

LUND UNIVERSITY

Functionality of Spray-Dried Whey Protein Powders - Surface Composition, Particle Morphology and Rehydration

Andersson, Ida-Marie

2020

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Andersson, I.-M. (2020). Functionality of Spray-Dried Whey Protein Powders - Surface Composition, Particle Morphology and Rehydration. Department of Food Technology, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Functionality of Spray-Dried Whey Protein Powders

Surface Composition, Particle Morphology and Rehydration

IDA-MARIE ANDERSSON DEPARTMENT OF FOOD TECHNOLOGY, ENGINEERING AND NUTRITION | LUND UNIVERSITY





Ida-Marie Andersson has a MSc in Engineering, Biotechnology with specialization in food technology from Lund University Lund, Sweden. Her doctoral studies have been in collaboration between the Department of Food Technology, Engineering and Nutrition at Lund University and Arla Foods Ingredients, Nr Vium, Denmark.

The aim of her doctoral thesis was to evaluate the effect of the feed properties and how that affects surface composition, particle morphology and rehydration properties of spray-dried whey protein powders with varying ratios of lactose. For powders, it is essential that they are easily dispersed and dissolved in order to fulfil the specified nutrient content and the functionality in the final product. Poor rehydration can cause challenges on an industrial level as well as for the consumers. This thesis has shown that changes in feed composition as well as the physical state of milk serum proteins (native vs. aggregated) did not have a major impact on the rehydration properties and particle morphology, even when a large fraction of the proteins were aggregated. Based on these observations, it is suggested that the particle surface is dominated by native proteins and that protein aggregates are mainly found in the interior of the powder particle. Thus, this thesis has shown that native whey proteins and lactose have the potential to protect less surface-active components, such as protein aggregates, in the powder particle. This knowledge can be used to formulate powders with improved rehydration characteristics.



Department of Food Technology Engineering and Nutrition Faculty of Engineering Lund University



Functionality of Spray-Dried Whey Protein Powders

Surface Composition, Particle Morphology and Rehydration

Functionality of Spray-Dried Whey Protein Powders

Surface Composition, Particle Morphology and Rehydration

Ida-Marie Andersson 2020



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Engineering, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended on Wednesday 20th of May 2020, at 09:15, in Lecture Hall KC:F at the Centre for Chemistry and Chemical Engineering.

> *Faculty opponent* Prof. Thom Huppertz,

Wageningen University & Research/FrieslandCampina, The Netherlands

Organization	Document name	
LUND UNIVERSITY	Doctoral Dissertation	
Faculty of Engineering, Department of Food	Date of issue	
Technology, Engineering and Nutrition	2020-05-20	
Author	Sponsoring organization	
Ida-Marie Andersson	Arla Foods Ingredients	
Functionality of Onese Deied Milese Device Devices Overface Onese sitism. Device I. Manufactory of Delevice time		

Functionality of Spray-Dried Whey Protein Powders- Surface Composition, Particle Morphology and Rehydration

Abstract

Whey protein powder functionality is expected to be closely linked to both structure and properties of the proteins. It is essential that whey protein powders are easily dispersed and dissolved in order to fulfil the specified nutrient content and the functionality in the final product. Poor rehydration can cause challenges on an industrial level as well as for the consumers. In this thesis, several studies were carried out, examining the effects of varying the composition in the feed on surface properties, particle morphology and functional properties of spray-dried powders. A membrane filtered product, serum protein concentrate (SPC), with a high fraction of native proteins, was studied with varying lactose content using different techniques.

For SPC/lactose (% w/w) systems, the stiffness of the interface of the feed droplet had an impact on the particle morphology. Feed droplets with a high modulus of elasticity and, thus, a stiff interface resulted in particles with thick ridges and deep dents. Systems with a low modulus of elasticity resulted in particles that were either smooth or covered with a high frequency of dents and thin ridges. The time needed to obtain wettability of these powders showed a positive relationship with the protein surface coverage, which was estimated by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS). Microstructural investigations of the internal structures of the particles with confocal Raman microscopy revealed that the protein-rich domain in the vicinity of the powder particle tended to become thinner as the bulk protein concentration increased in the powders. This suggests that the protein surface coverage has a more important role for the wettability than the thickness of the protein layer.

Scanned electron microscopy images revealed a similar particle morphology as the fraction of native proteins decreased from 100 to 45% as a result of heat treatment of the feed. However, the interior of the particle showed large differences where protein aggregates could be distinguished. The results imply that the surface composition was rather similar. In addition, the rehydration properties of these powders were not affected to a large extent by the protein denaturation. However, in serum protein/lactose 40/60 (% w/w) powders with a large fraction of aggregated proteins (95%), it was observed that an addition of native proteins improved the wettability. Further, the results from the XPS indicated that the powders with <15% native protein had approximately 10-15% of denatured/aggregated proteins at the particle surface which could explain the poorer wettability of these powders.

Lactosylation of the native protein fraction had no effect on the rehydration properties of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 and 60/40 powders even though the degree of lactosylation increased from 10 to 35% in some of the powders after storage (30°C, aw 0.23 for 25 days). On the other hand, it was observed that lactosylation was more pronounced in powders with a high fraction of proteins and not in the powders with a high fraction of lactose. It is suggested that the rate of lactosylation is higher in protein-rich domains with dissolved lactose than in lactose-rich domains with dissolved proteins.

Even though the feed was subjected to severe heat treatment and a large fraction of the protein aggregated, the rehydration properties and the particle morphology of the spray-dried powder was not affected to a large extent. Thus, as long as there are native proteins present in the system, they tend to dominate the particle surface and thereby protect the denatured and aggregated proteins, which are mainly found in the interior of the powder particles. This insight has relevance for formulation of whey powders with improved rehydration properties.

Key words

Milk serum protein, lactose, whey protein powders, spray drying, particle morphology, surface composition, rehydration and functionality

Classification system and/or index terms (if any) Supplementary bibliographical information Language English ISSN and key title ISBN (print)978-91-7895-448-3 ISBN (digital) 978-91-7895-449-0 Number of pages 78 Price Recipient's notes Security classification

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2020-04-07

Functionality of Spray-Dried Whey Protein Powders

Surface Composition, Particle Morphology and Rehydration

Ida-Marie Andersson 2020



Cover photo by Ida-Marie Andersson Back cover by Daniel Rydén

Copyright pp 1-78 (Ida-Marie Andersson)

Paper 1 © International Dairy Journal

Paper 2 © Colloids and Surfaces A

Paper 3 © By the Authors (Manuscript Unpublished)

Paper 4 © By the Authors (Manuscript Unpublished)

Paper 5 © By the Authors (Manuscript Unpublished)

Lund University, Faculty of Engineering Department of Food Technology, Engineering and Nutrition

ISBN 978-91-7895-448-3

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2020



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN

At least I made it my whey

Table of Contents

List of publications10
The author's contribution to the papers11
Contribution to conferences and workshops
Abstract
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning15
Abbreviations
Introduction
Hypothesis
Aim and Objectives
Background
Whey protein powders
Whey proteins
Lactose
Spray Drying27
Powder surface formation during spray drying
Surface properties of the feed and particle morphology
External and internal distribution of powder constituents
Data lastice accounting
Kenydration properties
Surface rheology of the feed and particle morphology
Surface pressure of the feed
Modulus of elasticity of the feed42
Particle morphology related to surface rheology of the feed44
External and internal distribution of powder constituents
Rehydration properties of spray-dried SPC powders
Impact of protein/lactose ratio in powders
Impact of protein denaturation and lactosylation in SPC/lactose powders60
Impact of aggregation state of whey proteins

Conclusions	65
Future perspectives	67
Acknowledgement	69
References	

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following publications, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals. The publications are appended in the end of the thesis.

- I. Andersson I.M., Glantz M., Alexander M., Millqvist-Fureby A., Paulsson M., & Bergenståhl B. (2018), Impact of surface properties on morphology of spray-dried milk serum protein/lactose systems, *International Dairy Journal*, 85; 86-95
- II. Andersson I.M., Millqvist-Fureby A., Sommertune J., Alexander M., Hellström N., Glantz M., Paulsson M. & Bergenståhl B. (2019), Impact of protein surface coverage and layer thickness on rehydration characteristics of milk serum protein/lactose powder particles, Colloids and Surfaces A, 561; 395-404
- III. Andersson I.M, Alexander M., Paulsson M., Glantz M. & Bergenståhl B., Effect of feed composition, protein denaturation and storage of milk serum protein/lactose powders on lactosylation, Under review
- IV. Andersson I.M., Alexander M., Paulsson M., Glantz M. & Bergenståhl B., Effect of feed composition, protein denaturation and storage of milk serum protein/lactose powders on rehydration characteristics, Under review
- V. Andersson I.M., Millqvist-Fureby A., Alexander M., Paulsson M., Glantz M & Bergenståhl B., Particle morphology and rehydration properties of spray-dried microgels and fractal aggregates with varying fraction of native milk serum proteins, *Manuscript*

The author's contribution to the papers

- I. The author designed the study with the co-authors, performed the major part of the experimental work. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) was performed as an analytical service at RISE, Research Institute of Sweden, Stockholm. Scanned electron microscopy was performed as an analytical service at Centre for Analysis and Synthesis (CAS), Lund University, Sweden. The results were evaluated together with the co-authors. The author wrote the first draft of the paper, which was revised by the coauthors.
- II. The author designed the study together with the co-authors and performed the major part of the experimental work. Jens Sommertune at RISE Research Institute of Sweden performed the confocal Raman microscopy. Scanned electron microscopy was performed as an analytical service at CAS (Lund University, Sweden). The results were evaluated together with the co-authors. The author wrote the first draft of the paper, which was revised by the co-authors.
- III. The author designed the study together with the co-authors, performed the major part of the experimental work. As an analytical service, ultra-high performance liquid chromatography (U-HPLC) and liquid chromatography mass-spectrometry were performed at Arla Foods Ingredients, Nr. Vium, Denmark. The author analysed the results together with the co-authors and wrote the first draft of the paper, which was revised by the co-authors.
- IV. The author designed the study together with the co-author, performed the experimental work, analysed the results together with the co-author and wrote the first draft of the paper, which was revised by the co-authors.
- V. The author designed the study together with the co-authors, performed the major part of the experimental work. XPS, cryo-transmission electron microscopy U-HPLC were performed as analytical services at RISE research Institute of Sweden (Stockholm, Sweden), at the Department of Physical Chemistry (Lund University, Sweden) and Arla Foods Ingredients (Nr. Vium, Denmark), respectively. The author evaluated the results together with the co-authors and wrote the first draft of the paper, which was revised by the co-authors.

Contribution to conferences and workshops

Andersson I.M., Alexander M., Millqvist-Fureby A., Paulsson M., Glantz M. & Bergenståhl B. (Oral presentation), How does heat exposure of the feed affect the dissolution rate of spray-dried milk serum protein/lactose powders?, 11th NIZO Dairy Conference, October 8-11, 2019, Papendal, The Netherlands

Andersson I.M., Millqvist-Fureby A., Sommertune J., Alexander M., Hellström N., Glantz M., Paulsson M. & Bergenståhl B. (Oral presentation), Surface and internal chemical characterization of dairy powder particles, Confocal Correlative Raman Imaging Workshop at RISE, November 5-6, 2018, Stockholm, Sweden

Andersson I.M, Hellström N., Sommertune J., Glantz M., Alexander M., Holm Nielsen J., Millqvist-Fureby A., Paulsson M. & Bergenståhl B. (Poster presentation), Impact of surface properties and internal distribution of powder constituents on rehydration characteristics of spray-dried milk serum protein powders, 17th Food Colloids Conference, April 8-11, 2018, Leeds, United Kingdom

Andersson I.M., Glantz M., Alexander M., Millqvist-Fureby A., Paulsson M. & Bergenståhl B. (Oral presentation), Rehydration and functionality of dairy powders – Impact of Surface Properties on Morphology of Spray-Dried Milk Serum Proteinlactose systems, Workshop Nordic-Baltic Dairy Network – Milk composition – Functional Genomics and Health Aspects, November 20-22, 2017, Larkollen, Norway

Andersson I.M., Hellström N., Glantz M., Alexander M., Holm Nielsen J., Paulsson M. & Bergenståhl B. (Oral presentation), Rehydration and functionality of dairy powders, Arla Foods Ingredients, August 24, 2017, Nr Vium, Denmark

Andersson I.M., Hellström N., Glantz M., Alexander M., Holm Nielsen J., Paulsson M. & Bergenståhl B. (Oral presentation), Impact of protein/lactose ratio on the dissolution rate of spray-dried powders, Nordic Dairy Congress, June 7-9, 2017, Copenhagen, Denmark

Andersson I.M., Hellström N., Glantz M., Alexander M., Holm Nielsen J., Paulsson M. & Bergenståhl B. (Poster presentation), Impact of protein/lactose ratio on the dissolution rate of spray-dried powders, IDF World Dairy Summit, October 16-21, 2016, Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Abstract

Whey protein powder functionality is expected to be closely linked to both structure and properties of the proteins. It is essential that whey protein powders are easily dispersed and dissolved in order to fulfil the specified nutrient content and the functionality in the final product. Poor rehydration can cause challenges on an industrial level as well as for the consumers. In this thesis, several studies were carried out, examining the effects of varying the composition in the feed on surface properties, particle morphology and functional properties of spray-dried powders. A membrane filtered product, serum protein concentrate (SPC), with a high fraction of native proteins, was studied with varying lactose content using different techniques.

For SPC/lactose (% w/w) systems, the stiffness of the interface of the feed droplet had an impact on the particle morphology. Feed droplets with a high modulus of elasticity and, thus, a stiff interface resulted in particles with thick ridges and deep dents. Systems with a low modulus of elasticity resulted in particles that were either smooth or covered with a high frequency of dents and thin ridges. The time needed to obtain wettability of these powders showed a positive relationship with the protein surface coverage, which was estimated by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS). Microstructural investigations of the internal structures of the particles with confocal Raman microscopy revealed that the protein-rich domain in the vicinity of the powder particle tended to become thinner as the bulk protein concentration increased in the powders. This suggests that the protein surface coverage has a more important role for the wettability than the thickness of the protein layer.

Scanned electron microscopy images revealed a similar particle morphology as the fraction of native proteins decreased from 100 to 45% as a result of heat treatment of the feed. However, the interior of the particle showed large differences where protein aggregates could be distinguished. The results imply that the surface composition was rather similar. In addition, the rehydration properties of these powders were not affected to a large extent by the protein denaturation. However, in serum protein/lactose 40/60 (% w/w) powders with a large fraction of aggregated proteins (95%), it was observed that an addition of native proteins improved the wettability. Further, the results from the XPS indicated that the powders with <15% native protein had approximately 10-15% of denatured/aggregated proteins at the particle surface which could explain the poorer wettability of these powders.

Lactosylation of the native protein fraction had no effect on the rehydration properties of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 and 60/40 powders even though the degree of lactosylation increased from 10 to 35% in some of the powders after storage (30° C, a_w 0.23 for 25 days). On the other hand, it was observed that

lactosylation was more pronounced in powders with a high fraction of proteins and not in the powders with a high fraction of lactose. It is suggested that the rate of lactosylation is higher in protein-rich domains with dissolved lactose than in lactoserich domains with dissolved proteins.

Even though the feed was subjected to severe heat treatment and a large fraction of the protein aggregated, the rehydration properties and the particle morphology of the spray-dried powder was not affected to a large extent. Thus, as long as there are native proteins present in the system, they tend to dominate the particle surface and thereby protect the denatured and aggregated proteins, which are mainly found in the interior of the powder particles. This insight has relevance for formulation of whey powders with improved rehydration properties.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Vasslepulver – torrt pulver med spännande upplösning

Vasslepulver är en näringsrik produkt med högt proteininnehåll. Det används flitigt som tillskott vid träning och modersmjölksersättning, men även som tillsats i en mängd livsmedel för att bidra till bättre textur och konsistens. Det är inte helt oproblematiskt att lösa upp pulvret. Som konsument har man säkerligen upplevt mer än en gång att det bildas klumpar när man försöker lösa upp det, vilket kan försvåra näringsupptaget samt att munkänslan blir mindre trevlig. Dessutom skapar det utmaningar för industrin. För att pulvret ska lösas upp måste det först vätas av vätskan som man blandar ner pulvret i. För att ta ett exempel; när man blandar en proteinshake används ca 25 gram pulver, eller med andra ord 20 miljoner pulverpartiklar. Den totala ytan av dessa partiklar är närmare 40 kvadratmeter, samma yta som en större enrumslägenhet! Och det är just vid vätningen som problem kan uppstå då ytan på partiklarna väts av vätskan som då blir klibbig, vilket kan göra att flera partiklar klibbar samman och på så vis bildar klumpar. Men vad är det då som påverkar vätningen och upplösningen av pulvret? Men vi börjar från början, vad är egentligen vassle?

Förr ansågs vassle från osttillverkning vara en oanvändbar produkt och mejerierna gav mer eller mindre bort vasslen till bönder för att användas som foder till kreaturen. Tack vare utvecklingen av industriella tekniker, såsom filtrering och spraytorkning, gjordes det möjligt att ta tillvara på vasslen. Idag är produkten vassle lika högt värderad som själva osten. Vassle består mestadels av vatten men innehåller cirka 1 % protein, 4 % laktos och lite salter. För att skapa mervärde till produkten filtreras laktosen bort och sedan spraytorkas vasslen till ett fint pulver. Vid spraytorkning finfördelas vasslen i små fina droppar som torkas med hetluft. Från droppe till pulverpartikel tar det bara några sekunder. Att torka vasslen har en mängd fördelar såsom att hållbarheten förlängs eftersom bakterier inte trivs i torra miljöer, produkten kan förvaras i rumstemperatur, mängden protein per kilo produkt är hög och transportkostnaderna reduceras kraftigt vilket är positivt för miljön. Vad som gör vasslepulver så intressant är just dess proteiner då de innehåller en mängd livsnödvändiga aminosyror (proteiners byggstenar) för kroppen och att proteinerna snabbt tas upp av kroppen.

Idag produceras det, genom spraytorkning, över 2 miljoner ton vasslepulver bara i EU och siffran väntas stiga med åren. En intressant fråga som uppstår är hur vassleproteinerna påverkas av spraytorkningen och hur det i sin tur påverkar upplösningen av pulvret. Det är här som den här studien kommer in i bilden. I den här studien har spraytorkade vassleproteinpulver med varierande laktoshalt undersökts. Proteiner är ytaktiva, vilket innebär att de söker sig till ytan av en vattendroppe. Under spraytorkningens första del, när vasslen finfördelas i små droppar, söker sig alltså proteinerna till ytan innan själva pulverpartikeln bildas.

Resultaten visade att ytan på pulverpartiklarna spelar stor roll för vätningen. Ju mer protein vid ytan, desto längre tid tar det för vattnet att väta partikeln. Dessutom visade resultaten att proteinlagret vid ytan inte nödvändigtvis blev tjockare ju mer protein som fanns i vasslen som spraytorkades. Förutom skillnader i vätningen visade denna avhandling att utseendet på pulverpartiklarna ändras beroende på förhållandet mellan protein och laktos. Med andra ord kan utseendet av pulverpartikeln säga något om sammansättningen av ytan. En annan intressant upptäckt som gjorts är att värmebehandling av vasslen innan torkning påverkar utseendet av pulverpartiklarna, men också vätningen som tar något längre tid. Det indikerar på att sammansättningen av pulverytan har ändrats. Värmning är ett nödvändigt steg innan torkning för att avdöda värmekänsliga mikroorganismer som förekommer i vasslen. Proteinerna i vasslen är också värmekänsliga och kan ändra sin struktur vilket kan göra att de blir mindre benägna att komma i kontakt med vatten. Ett nativt protein, alltså ett protein som har sin naturliga struktur, väts oftast lättare jämfört med ett protein som påverkats av värmebehandling. Vad händer om man tillsätter nativt protein till vassle som värmebehandlats kraftigt? Jo, vätningen av pulverpartiklarna går snabbare eftersom det nativa proteinet snabbare tar sig till pulverpartikelytan än proteinerna som påverkats av uppvärmningen.

Denna avhandling har bidragit med ytterligare kunskap om vad som påverkar vätningen och upplösningen av vasslepulver. Tack vare den här forskningen är vi ett steg närmare en snabb upplösning på ett svårlösligt problem.

Abbreviations

a_{w}	Water activity		
α-la	α-lactalbumin		
β-lg	β-lactoglobulin		
BSA	Bovine serum albumin		
CRM	Confocal Raman microscopy		
Cryo-TEM	Cryo-transmission electron microscopy		
MPC	Milk protein concentrate		
SEM	Scanned electron microscopy		
SMP	Skim milk powder		
SPC	Serum protein concentrate		
WP	Whey proteins		
WPC	Whey protein concentrate		
WPH	Whey protein hydrolysate		
WPI	Whey protein isolate		
XPS	X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy		

Introduction

In 2018, almost 13 million tonnes of dairy powders were produced worldwide (IDF, 2019). Of these, whey powders accounted for more than three million tonnes where nearly 70% is produced in the European Union (IDF, 2019). During the last five years, the whey powder production has increased with 11% and is expected to continue to grow worldwide thanks to opportunities related to nutritious foods, infant formulas and medical use (IDF, 2019). Around 80% of the whey powder is produced from liquid whey which is a product from cheese manufacturing, and the rest is derived from casein production.

Rehydration and functionality of spray-dried whey powders are important quality parameters in industrial applications, either as ingredient in various types of food or in dry blend products such as performance products and infant formulas. It is crucial that the powder is easily dispersed and dissolved in order to fulfil the specified nutrient content and functionality in the final product (Morr, 1989, Crowley et al., 2015, Schuck et al., 2016). A powder with poor rehydration characteristics does not only affect consumer perception of the product but also causes challenges at the industrial level in unit operations related to wetting (Gaiani et al., 2007, Hellborg et al., 2012, Richard et al., 2012). Consequently, it is of importance to understand which parameters that affects powder rehydration characteristics.

The rehydration properties of powders (e.g. wetting, dispersiability, and solubility) are affected by several factors, such as powder bulk composition, surface composition of powder particles, particle size, particle morphology, degree of agglomeration, cohesiveness, and powder density (Lillford and Fryer, 1998). Thus, it is a complex process involving many variables. Earlier research has shown that the rate-controlling step in the reconstitution process of whey powders is the wetting (Baldwin and Sanderson, 1973, Gaiani et al., 2007, Ji et al., 2016). Further, other studies have concluded that the wetting of powders is highly affected by the surface composition of the powder particles (Fäldt and Bergenståhl, 1994, Millqvist-Fureby et al., 2001). The wettability of powder, for example, is favoured by hydrophilic molecules on the surface, and a high protein surface coverage reduces the wetting rate compared to lactose dominated particles (Fäldt and Bergenståhl, 1994, Lillford and Fryer, 1998, Silva and O'Mahony, 2017). Further on, the particle morphology is highly dependent on the surface composition of the powder particles (Nijdam and

Langrish, 2006, Nuzzo et al., 2015a). Thus, using microscopical techniques and other detailed methods can contribute with valuable information regarding the particle morphology and surface composition, and this in turn will increase the understanding of the rehydration properties of spray-dried whey protein powders.

Hypothesis

The hypothesis of this thesis is that changes in composition and solution properties and physical state of whey proteins during processing, drying and storage are important for powder functionality. It is also assumed that these changes are reflected in surface rheology properties, aggregation phenomenon and powder particle microstructure.

Aim and Objectives

The overall aim of this doctoral thesis was to gain deeper knowledge regarding the feed properties and how that affects surface composition, particle morphology and rehydration properties of spray-dried whey protein powders.

This overall aim was divided into the following specific objectives:

- Relate surface properties of the feed droplet to the particle morphology of spray-dried whey protein/lactose powder particles (**Paper I**, **V**)
- Characterize the internal and external distribution of powder constituents in spray-dried whey protein/lactose powders (**Paper II**, **V**)
- Investigate how the feed composition affect wetting and dissolution of the whey protein/lactose powders (**Paper II, IV, V**)
- Determine the extent of lactosylation in stored whey protein/lactose powders and how it affects the rehydration properties (**Paper III, IV**)
- Evaluate how the degree of protein denaturation and aggregation state of the proteins affects the rehydration properties of whey protein/lactose powders (**Paper III, IV, V**)

The results obtained in this thesis are intended to be used to optimize spray-dried whey powder products with improved rehydration properties.

Background

Whey protein powders

The production of milk proteins is growing rapidly worldwide due to its nutritional and functional properties (IDF, 2019). As milk protein consists of casein and whey, different protein materials can be produced using different manufacturing processes (Oftedal, 2013). Around 80% of the whey powders is produced from liquid whey which is a product from cheese manufacturing, and the rest is derived from casein production (IDF, 2019). The liquid whey consists of 1% proteins, 4% lactose and some minerals. To increase the protein concentration and reduce the amount of lactose and minerals, the whey is subjected to ultrafiltration.



Figure 1. Examples of whey powder applications (TheNounProject, 2020).

Whey powders are mainly produced by spray drying. There are three primary types of whey protein powders; whey protein concentrate (WPC), whey protein isolate (WPI), and whey protein hydrolysate (WPH). WPC contains fat and lactose, and the protein concentration varies from 30 up to 90%. WPC is produced from liquid whey. WPI are produced through microfiltration followed by ultrafiltration or ion exchange. WPI contains normally at least 90% protein and less fat and lactose than

WPC. WPH consists of whey proteins that have been partly hydrolysed. It is generally accepted that protein hydrolysates containing mostly di- and tripeptides are adsorbed faster than intact proteins (Manninen, 2009). However, some research have reported conflicting results (Farnfield et al., 2008, Cotter and Barr, 2012). Whey powders can be used in many applications due to their functional and nutritional properties, such as in infant formulas, performance products and confectionary goods. Figure 1 displays some of the applications whey powders are used in.

Whey proteins

About 20% of the total protein fraction in milk (5-7 g·L⁻¹) consists of whey proteins (WP) (Walstra et al., 2006). The three major whey proteins are β -lactoglobulin (β lg), α -lactalbumin (α -la), and bovine serum albumin (BSA) (see Table 1). WPs are known for having good essential amino acid balance, high nutritional quality and digestibility (Lollo et al., 2011). WPs are globular proteins where hydrophobic residues normally are found in the core of the protein and the hydrophilic residues are bound outwards (Dill, 1990). The folding of the globular proteins is crucial for their physiological function. α -la works as a coenzyme in the synthesis of lactose. Further, α -la has one strong binding site for calcium (Walstra et al., 2006). The calcium ion is strongly bound and stabilizes the protein conformation. β -lg is the major whey protein. Its solubility and the conformation strongly depend on pH of the solution. In the pH range from 5.2–7.5, β -lg exists as a dimer of two monomeric subunits that are noncovalently bound. Dissociation to the monomer occurs below pH 3.5 and above 7.5. Between pH 3.5 to 5.2, β -lg can form octamers (Walstra et al., 2006, Fox et al., 2015). Above pH 8, aggregation can occur due to formation of intramolecular disulphide bonds (Sawyer, 2003).

Table 1. P_{1} = P_{2} = $P_$

Froperties of p-lactoglobulin	(p-ig), a-ia (a-iactaibuitiit)	, and bovine Serum Abumin	(DSA) (Waistra et al., 2000).

Whey proteins	Distribution (%)	Molecular weight (Da)	Denaturation temperature (°C)	S-S bridges/molecule
β-lg	55-60	18 320	70	2 + 1 SH
α-la	20-25	14 176	64	4
BSA	5-10	66 267	65	17 + 1 SH

Protein aggregation

Globular proteins are stabilized by several weak bonds and the conformational stability is relatively small (Walstra et al., 2006). Several factors can cause denaturation of globular proteins, such as high temperatures (in general, >70°C), high pH (8-9), and addition of reagents that breaks up H-bonds. Denaturation leads to loss of the proteins' functionality as the protein unfolds. In the unfolded state, the

proteins are more reactive and may undergo covalent bond changes, which then prevent refolding of the protein. When hydrophobic side chains are exposed as a result of protein unfolding, the protein tends to form intramolecular hydrophobic bonds which can lead to precipitation and aggregation, unless the electric charge is high (Walstra et al., 2006). Unfolding and aggregation especially occur at high temperatures. In the production of dairy products, heat treatment is a very common unit operation with the purpose to kill microorganisms and inactive enzymes to produce safe products with increased shelf-life. Heat treatment can also be applied to induce changes to give products specific properties, such as in the production of yoghurt. Further, denatured whey proteins can give a slightly higher viscosity of the product (Carr et al., 2003).

When β -lg unfolds, the protein is prone to aggregate due to exposed free thiol groups. Even though, α -la has a lower denaturation temperature (~64°C at pH 6.7 (Mcguffey et al., 2005)) than β -lg, it is less prone to aggregate due to lack of free thiol groups. The denaturation of α -la is largely reversible at temperatures below 90°C if no other proteins are present (Wijayanti et al., 2014). Caussin et al. (2003) observed that the amount of native α -la was reduced much more when it was heated with other whey proteins, especially with BSA (due to a lower denaturation temperature compared to β -lg, see Table 1). The denaturation of whey proteins depends on several factors, such as pH, protein concentration, ionic strength, calcium activity, and temperature. The pH affects the electrostatic repulsion between the proteins and free calcium ions can form salt bridges which in turn affects the electrostatic repulsion (Walstra et al., 2006).



Figure 2. Schematic overview of whey protein microgels (100 -1000 nm) and fractal aggregates (30-60 nm).

Denaturation and aggregation of whey proteins affect both their functional and nutritional properties. Denatured whey proteins are less soluble than native proteins (Huffman, 1996). Further, proteins that aggregate can become insoluble and precipitate. Powders containing denatured proteins have shown to have poorer wettability, most likely due to the exposure of more hydrophobic groups (Millqvist-Fureby et al., 2001). In this thesis, the effect of protein denaturation and aggregation on rehydration properties were investigated in serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 and 60/40 powders (**Paper IV**). The systems were heat treated either with or without additional lactose at 70, 75 or 80°C for 15 s. Heat treatment with additional lactose could have an effect on the degree of protein denaturation as well as the lactosylation

of the WPs. The serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 powder was chosen as it was expected to observe larger effects of the protein denaturation as a large fraction of the bulk protein can be found on the surface ($\sim 15\%$) (Landström et al., 2000). The serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 60/40 system was investigated as it is more similar to commercial powders in relation to the protein content. In addition, a holding time of 15 s was used as that is around the holding time for pasteurization in the dairy industry.

Besides unwanted protein denaturation as an effect of heat treatment, it is possible to tune the conditions (such as pH and salt concentration) to obtain aggregates with different properties. For example, globular proteins are able to form irreversible well-defined particulated aggregates (microgels) when heated in an environment close to their pI or in the presence of salts (Gagnaire et al., 2020). Microgels have been shown to be promising in food delivery systems and to stabilize food-graded emulsions (Destributs et al., 2014). By varying the pH and increase the electrostatic repulsion of the proteins, fractal aggregates can be produced (Kharlamova et al., 2016). Fractal aggregates are branched and are much smaller in size (30-60 nm) compared to microgels (100-1 000 nm) (see Figure 2). Fractal aggregates and microgels from whey proteins could be used to substitute texturing agents in dairy products (Gagnaire et al., 2020, Lesme et al., 2019). Thus, it is of interest to investigate whether they keep their structure after spray drying as it is essential in order to maintain their functional properties. In this thesis, microgels and fractal aggregates were prepared by heating serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 40/60 systems at 85°C for 15 min by alter the pH to 7.3 and 8.6, respectively (Paper V). Moreover, the native fraction of serum proteins was varied in the systems to investigate whether that could have an effect on the rehydration properties. It could be expected that native proteins prohibit enhanced wettability compared to denatured and aggregated proteins thereby resulting in an improved wettability of the powders.

Serum protein concentrate

In this thesis, serum protein concentrate (SPC) has been used as a material with addition of lactose in varying ratios. SPC is produced by microfiltration where the caseins are removed (see Figure 3).



Figure 3.

Flow scheme of the production of serum protein concentrate (SPC). Caseins are removed through microfiltration. The protein content is increased in the SPC through ultrafiltration where water, minerals and lactose are removed. The SPC was stored at -18°C until further use.

SPC is a product with low opacity with a pH close to neutral and has a large fraction of native proteins. Compared to cheese whey, SPC is not subjected to as many processing steps that may alter the flavour (Evans et al., 2010). Further, SPC contains lower amounts of fat than WPC, which makes it less prone to lipid oxidation and off-flavour formations. In addition, Punidadas and Rizvi (1998) demonstrated enhanced foaming properties of dialyzed SPC (5%, pH 7.0) compared to products made from cheese whey. The composition of the SPC is displayed in Table 2.

Table 2.

Composition of serum protein concentrate. The compostion varied depending on batch. Three different batches were used in this thesis.

Composition	
Ash (% w/w)	0.6 – 0.8
Dry matter (% w/w)	22 – 30
Protein (% w/w)	18 – 28
- α-lactalbumin	3.2 – 5.2
- β -lactoglobulin	11 – 17
Lactose (% w/w)	1.0 – 2.0
Lipids (% w/w)	~0.1
Phosphorous (% w/w)	0.06 - 0.1
Calcium (bound, % w/w)	0.08 - 0.1
Calcium (free ions, mmol·L ⁻¹)	4.0 - 5.0
Potassium (mmol·L ⁻¹)	26 – 46
Sodium (mmol·L ⁻¹)	4.3 – 18
рН	6.5 - 6.7
Conductivity (mS·cm ⁻¹)	2.3 - 5.3

Table 3 shows a summary of the experimental setup in **Paper I-IV**. In **Paper V**, the protein/lactose ratio was kept to 40/60 (% w/w) but the ratio of aggregated/native proteins was varied between 1.5 and 32%. Note that "native" proteins are referred to proteins that have undergone no heat treatment prior to spray drying. WPs can be affected by the drying process, however, it has been observed in this thesis that the drying had a limited effect on the native protein fraction (**Paper III**).

Table 3.

The experimental setup in Paper I-V.

Paper	Protein/lactose (% w/w)	Dry matter of protein and lactose (% w/w)
I	0.1/99.9, 1/99, 10/90, 40/60, 60/40, 90/10 [*]	17.5
П	0.1/99.9, 1/99, 10/90, 40/60, 60/40, 90/10 [*]	17.5
III	1/99, 60/40, 95/5	22.5
VI	1/99, 60/40	22.5
V	40/60	15

*Marked as SPC/lactose (% w/w) 100/0 in Paper I, II

Lactose

Lactose is the major carbohydrate in milk and is a disaccharide composed of glucose and galactose. This sugar is unique for milk. Lactose is a reducing sugar that can act as a reducing agent as the sugar can convert to an open-chain structure with an aldehyde group that can react with other components, such as amino acids (Walstra et al., 2006, Van Renterghem and De Block, 1996). This reaction is an early stage in the Maillard reaction. As the Maillard reaction advances, brown coloured furfural compounds are formed (Van Renterghem and De Block, 1996, Le et al., 2011). Lactose exists in both amorphous and crystalline states (α -lactose monohydrate, β lactose, and α-lactose anhydrate) (Roos, 1995). Upon spray drying, lactose becomes amorphous as the drying time is too short for the lactose to crystallize (Hague and Roos, 2004). As amorphous lactose is hygroscopic, it is very susceptible to moisture uptake during storage (Berlin et al., 1968). Amorphous lactose is in the glassy state as long as the critical water activity (a_w) is below 0.37 (at 25°C) (Roos, 1995). However, the critical aw and the rate of lactose crystallization depends on temperature and relative humidity. An increase in the relative humidity increases the water adsorption, which in turn increases the plasticization and molecular mobility. Further, as lactose crystallize, water is released, which can cause caking of powders due to solid/liquid-bridging between particles (Roos, 1995, Huppertz and Gazi, 2016). Crystallization of lactose affects the properties of milk powders, such as decreased solubility, loss in emulsifying properties, and reduced flowability (Thomas et al., 2004, McCarthy et al., 2013). As lactose crystallization proceeds, the free fat at the surface increases in spray-dried dairy emulsions, which enhance the development of off-flavours and decreased solubility (Jouppila and H., 1994, McCarthy et al., 2013). Further, lactose crystallization can modify the protein structure as the crystalline lactose destabilizes the hydrogen-bonding between lactose and protein that otherwise stabilizes the proteins to keep their native structure (Thomas et al., 2004). Consequently, it is important to store powders at low temperatures and low relative humidity in order to keep their functional properties.

Spray Drying

During industrial spray drying, the liquid feed is atomized into small droplets in a chamber. The droplets are dried by hot air as they fall in the spray drying chamber. Co-current air flow is normally used for heat sensitive products as the feed temperature is lower than the drying air. Drying from droplet to powder particle is a very rapid process and takes only seconds. Spray drying is a gentle process where the particles are only subjected to a temperature slightly higher than the wet-bulb temperature of the drying air (Masters, 1991). The evaporation of the moisture has a cooling effect, thus, the highest temperature the product is subjected to is the outlet temperature. A schematic overview of the spray dryer used in this thesis can be seen in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Schematic overview of a laboratory spray dryer.

The advantages of using a laboratory spray dryer are that it is easy to use, require only small feed volumes, and is not time demanding. However, a very important aspect is that powder particles become much smaller in size ($\sim 10\mu$ m) compared to industrial spray-dried powder particles ($\sim 100\mu$ m) and this affects the powder properties. Furthermore, the product recovery is fairly low ($\sim 50\%$) since a large

amount of the particles sticks on the spray drying chamber and there is fraction of fines lost in the exhausting air. Another important aspect in the production of large-scale spray-dried powders is that the material is heat treated and concentrated by evaporation prior to the spray drying as it allows for high viscous fluids and, thus, can handle high concentrations. Also, after the spray drying, the particles go through a fluidized bed for further drying, agglomeration and mixing of the powder particles. Thus, the setup used in this study differs quite much from the industry. However, a laboratory spray dryer is practical to use to produce large powder sets and can contribute to the understanding of how powder properties are affected by different treatments.

During the experimental work in this thesis (**Paper I-V**), a laboratory spray dryer was used to produce the powders. The settings of the spray drying trials are displayed in Table 4.

Table 4.

Settings for the spray drying trials (Mini Spray Dryer B-290, Büchi Labortechnik AG, Flawil Switzerland) used throughout the thesis.

Spray dryer parameter	Settings
Nozzle	Two fluid nozzle
Air flow (kg·h-1)	34 (co-current)
Pressurised air (m ³ ·h ⁻¹)	0.8
Inlet temperature (°C)	170 ± 1
Outlet temperature (°C)	80 ± 2
Feed rate (mL·min ⁻¹)	24

Powder surface formation during spray drying

During spray drying, droplets undergo very fast evaporation and are subjected to both temperature and dimensional changes (Schuck et al., 2016). The lifetime of a droplet in a spray dryer is short and is normally divided into delay time and drying time. The delay time is the time it takes for the droplet to reach the edge of the spray and, thus, the time for the surface-active components to diffuse to the interface of the droplet. The delay time, or the average life-time of 10µm droplet in the wet-zone, has been estimated to be around 0.3 s in a laboratory spray dryer (Fäldt, 1995). The drying time, on the other hand, is much shorter and has been estimated to be around 10-20 ms (Fäldt, 1995, Vehring et al., 2007). During the evaporation, surface active components will enrich at the surface and eventually form a skin. When a critical moisture content is reached, the interface will solidify due to over-saturated conditions in the boundary layer (Masters, 1991). Several models have been proposed to explain the particle formation during spray drying (Charlesworth and Marshall, 1960, Meerdink, 1994, Fäldt and Bergenståhl, 1994, Sadek et al., 2014). According to Charlesworth and Marshall (1960), in absence of surface-active

components and fat, the formation of a solid-like crust on the droplet surface occurs when there is an over-saturation at the surface of the drying droplet and the availability of the solvent is insufficient at the surface. Thus, the composition of the formed crust is expected to be largely dependent on the solubility of the dissolved components. This would lead to a particle surface dominated by the least soluble component. In 1994, it was suggested by Meerdink (1994) that the solutes diffuse towards the centre of the droplet as the solvent diffuses towards the surface, which would lead to a particle surface dominated by the solute having the lowest diffusion coefficient. On the other hand, Fäldt and Bergenståhl (1994) observed that in presence of surface-active components, such as proteins, they will adsorb to the air/water interface of the droplet during spray drying because of their surface activity, and thus will be present on the powder particle surface after drying. Sadek et al. (2014) suggested that, as the saturated droplet surface dries during spray drying, either a ridged or a smooth and flexible skin can be formed. A ridged skin results in either dense, hollow or broken particles due to solidification of the particles, whereas a flexible skin allows inflation and expansion cycles of the droplet as the drying continues, which results in puffed or folded particles. Moreover, the drying temperature and, thus, the evaporation rate has been shown to be of importance related to particle formation and particle morphology (Vehring et al., 2007).



Figure 5. Descriptives of the particle morphology.

As an example, the drying conditions can cause the particles to collapse or expand, form blow holes, become shelled or to form irregular shaped particles (Vehring et al., 2007). The morphological features of irregular shaped particles can be described as ridges, dents and shrivels. In this thesis, 'ridges' is used to describe the continuous elevated crest on the particle, 'dents' the indentation in the surface, while 'shrivels' are small perpendicular wrinkles on the ridges (see Figure 5). The particles shown in Figure 5 are visualized using scanned electron microscopy (SEM). SEM is a powerful magnification tool that produces high-resolution, three dimensional, and

detailed images which can provide topographical and morphological information. SEM has been used throughout this thesis to characterize the powder particles. However, powder samples are sensitive for the electron beam, and especially powders rich in lactose. Thus, a too high magnification can damage the particles and cause artefacts such as large cracks.

Surface properties of the feed and particle morphology

The interfacial rheology is assumed to play an important role for the surface formation and the morphology of the particles during spray drying of pure protein and non-ionic polymer systems (Elversson and Millqvist-Fureby, 2006, Nuzzo et al., 2015a). The adsorption of proteins to an air/water interface increases the surface pressure as well as the viscoelasticity, which is a measure of the stiffness of the interface. The interfacial properties on an air/water interface can be measured over time by drop tensiometry, and by applying an oscillation this method can supply information about the viscoelastic properties (Loglio et al., 2001). A drawback with the pendant drop technique is that the measurements are performed on a longer time scale compared to the drying time of a droplet in a spray dryer. For that purpose, bubble tensiometry can be used which can measure the surface tension in milliseconds, which has been used in other studies (Porowska et al., 2015, Nuzzo et al., 2015a). However, no concluding remarks related to the surface tension and the particle morphology were made in these studies. However, bubble tensiometry cannot give any information about the viscoelastic properties of the material. In a study performed by Nuzzo et al. (2015a), the authors suggested that the surface elasticity was the most important parameter in relation to the particle morphology. Systems with a low surface elasticity (<10 mN·m⁻¹) resulted in particles with a smooth surface, whereas a high surface elasticity (>20 mN·m⁻¹) gave rise to more ridged and dented particles. In this thesis, the surface rheological properties were estimated for six serum protein/lactose (% w/w) systems with different ratios (0.1/99.9 to 90/10) using the pendant drop technique (Paper I). Since most studies have been conducted on pure or binary protein systems, it is of interest to investigate whether similar observations can be made on more complex and commercial protein systems, such as SPC. This could contribute to further insight in how the surface properties of the droplet are related to the particle morphology. In addition, serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 40/60 systems with different ratios of aggregated and native proteins were investigated to evaluate whether the protein state influences the surface rheology properties (**Paper V**)

Adsorption kinetics of surface-active components, such as proteins, have an important role in spray drying as the time from droplet formation to dried particle is short. The adsorption of these components is controlled by several mechanisms,

such as the diffusivity of the components, hydrodynamic radius, ionic strength, pH, interactions between the components in the feed, and hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity (Tripp et al., 1995, Porowska et al., 2015). In general, a molecule with a higher hydrodynamic radius have a slower diffusion rate. Interestingly, Landström et al. (2000) showed, using fluorescence labelled proteins, that proteins adsorb patch-wise to the interface at low concentration, and that the bulk protein composition of several proteins is reflected in the composition of the protein surface layer. Further, Yang et al. (2020) showed by imaging Langmuir-Blodgett films using atomic force microscopy that native whey proteins had a highly heterogeneous structure at the air/water interface. The proteins formed a dense clustered network which were randomly distributed over the interface. Foerster et al. (2016) analysed the surface composition of cryogenic flash frozen particles and compared with spray-dried particles. Their findings suggested that the protein adsorption seems to develop gradually after atomization of the droplet whereas the distribution of fat at the surface took place during the atomization. This was also suggested in a study performed by Kim et al. (2009) on industrial spray-dried skim milk powders (SMP).

External and internal distribution of powder constituents

The physical structure of dried powder particles is an important factor as the functional properties depend on it (Carić and Kalab, 1987, Sharma et al., 2012). There are several factors that affects properties of spray-dried powders, for example the operation conditions during spray-drying, feed composition, and dry matter content. Table 5 displays some of the factors that affects the properties of spray-dried powders.

The stand for the local formation of all (0000)

Table 5.

Parameters that affect the final properties of spray-dried powders (adapted from Kim et al. (2009)).			
Dryer configuration	Feed	Primary powder properties	Secondary powder properties
Inlet temperature	Composition	Moisture content	Sinkability
Outlet temperature	Dry matter	Bulk density	Dispersiability
Type of atomizer	Viscosity	Particle density	Wettability
Type of airflow	pН	Particle morphology	Solubility
Feed rate	Ionic strength	Particle size	Cohesivness
Gas flow rate	Temperature	Colour	Functional properties
	Pre-treatment	Surface composition	Protein solubility
		Internal particle structure	Protein stability
			Flowability

It is usually postulated that the surface properties of spray-dried particles are of importance for powder functionality and affects both the physical and functional properties of the powders, such as wettability, dispersibility, solubility, and flowability. Gaiani et al. (2011) found a correlation between the morphological properties of the particles and the rehydration characteristics. The surface

composition depends on many variables, such as feed composition, degree of heat (Millavist-Fureby treatment. and process parameters et al., 2001. Anandharamakrishnan et al., 2007, Kim et al., 2009, Fang et al., 2012). Kim et al. (2009) observed a change in the particle morphology of spray-dried SMP as the feed solid content in the feed increased from 10 to 30%. At 10% feed solid content, the particle had deep dents and thick ridges. Further, as the feed solid content increased to 30%, the particles became larger in size, the ridges had become thicker covered with shrivels and the dents had become less deep. Based on their observations, the authors concluded that this finding confirms the rapid crust/skin formation at higher dry matter contents in the feed (Kim et al., 2009). Besides the differences in the particle morphology, the ratio of lactose to protein at the surface increased with feed solids content. A similar observation was made by Millqvist et al. 2001 on dairy emulsions with varying fraction of insoluble proteins. As the fraction of insoluble proteins increased, the ratio of lactose to protein tended to increase on the surface. Fäldt and Bergenståhl (1994) observed that the particle morphology highly depended on the protein/lactose ratio in the feed. Furthermore, by using X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS), the authors found that spray-dried lactose and protein powders mainly were covered with proteins even at very low protein concentrations. Other studies on dairy powders confirm these findings (Kelly et al., 2015, Nuzzo et al., 2015a). XPS is a powerful quantitative technique to characterize the elemental composition of solid surfaces and has a scanning depth between 2 and 10 nm. The thickness of a protein monolayer at the surface of a powder particle can be expected to between 2 and 5 nm (Fäldt et al., 1993). Furthermore, it was shown in Fäldt et al. (1993) that an underlying layer contributes less to the signal for a spherical particle than for a flat surface as long as the surface layer is thicker than ~8nm. Thus, protein aggregates present just underneath a thin protein layer could therefore contribute to the signal if the native proteins are not distributed in thick layers at the surface (Fäldt, 1995). Due to the limited scanning depth of XPS, the technique does not provide any information about the distribution of the powder constituents in the powder particle matrix (Fäldt et al., 1993).

Several studies have observed phase segregation in spray-dried powder particles containing biopolymers and lactose/maltodextrin (Nuzzo et al., 2015b, Both et al., 2018) The internal distribution of the powder constituents can be expected to have an impact on the functional properties of the powders, such as chemical reactivity, encapsulation efficiency and dissolution properties. Therefore, it is of interest to investigate the phase segregation between proteins and lactose in spray-dried powders. The diffusion rate and the viscosity are expected to play an important role for the internal distribution of powder constituents and, thus, the phase segregation. Several studies have been performed to determine the internal distribution of powder constituents of spray-dried powder particles (Murrieta-Pazos et al., 2012, Nuzzo et al., 2015b, Both, 2019). Murrieta-Pazos et al. (2012) proposed a model for

the surface gradient composition into a depth of 1µm in commercial skim milk powders using XPS connected to Energy Dispersive X-ray. Their findings suggested a model where the protein gradient declines in depth going from the surface into the powder particle whereas the lactose gradient first declines from the surface to increase again moving further into the powder particle. Nuzzo et al. (2015b) investigated the internal distribution of BSA and lactose in single-dried particles using confocal Raman microscopy (CRM). They observed a phase segregation between the protein and lactose up to a BSA concentration of 10% w/w. However, as the BSA concentration increased to 20 % w/w, the outer protein layer seemed to become thinner. On the other hand, using poloxamer instead of BSA, the surface layer became thicker with increasing poloxamer concentration. Both et al. (2018) observed that a slower drying of whey protein/maltodextrin (5/95, % w/w) systems resulted in more extensive phase separation between the two components using CRM. The author hypothesized that the proteins dominate the skin properties and particle morphology at slower drying rates of single-dried droplets.

In this thesis, CRM has been used to investigate the internal distribution of protein and lactose in spray-dried serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 10/90, 40/60 and 60/40 powder particles (Paper II). As earlier studies have focused on lower protein-tolactose ratios, these ratios were chosen to see how the phase segregation between protein and lactose (in depth) were affected by higher protein concentration in the particles, and if that could be related to the rehydration properties of the powders. Figure 6a shows an example of a particle that has been scanned in depth (xz-scan). The white line marks where the depth scan has been performed, going from the upper left to the lower right. Figure 6b shows a CRM image from a depth scan of the powder particle in Figure 6a. As seen, the distribution of protein (green) and lactose (red) can be distinguished. The SEM micrograph in Figure 6c displays a similar particle to the one that has been analysed in Figure 6a-b. The arrows in Figure 6b-c display a similar location that has been analysed. As seen, vacuoles in the particles result in black areas. Further, the intensity of the signal decreases with depth in the particle, which reduces the collection efficiency (Esposito et al., 2016). The advantages of using CRM to localize the powder constituents in powder particles are that the technique does not require any sample preparation and is nondestructive (Heraud et al., 2017). On the other hand, the spatial resolution is around 300 nm which makes it challenging to observe domains smaller than that. Further, as the analyses is quite laborious, only a limited number of particles have been analysed in this thesis.


Figure 6.

a) A light microscopy image with an optical overlay showing the particle that has been analysed in b). The white line marks where the depth scan has been performed, going from the upper left to the lower right corner. The green and red colour represent serum protein and lactose, respectively. b) Confocal Raman microscopy (CRM) image of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 10/90 powder particle. c) A scanned electron micrograph giving an example of a powder particle with similar cross-section to the one in b). The arrows in b) and c) demonstrate an example of a similar location that has been analyzed. The scale bars correspond to 3µm. The particles in b) and c) are not totally in scalar proportions but is an attempt to show how the internal structure gives raise to the CRM image in b).

Lactosylation of whey proteins

Even though spray drying is a gentle process, research has shown that lactosylation of whey proteins can occur during the drying (Guyomarc'h et al., 2000, Norwood et al., 2017, Aalaei et al., 2016). The lactosylation process (or Maillard reaction) is a complex set of chemical reactions where amino groups react with reducing sugars to from various chemical compounds. In whey, lactose reacts with amino acids in proteins, most commonly with lysine. Lysine is an essential amino acid, thus, as a result of lactosylation, the lysine becomes less available as a nutrient for consumers (Friedman, 1996, Rauh et al., 2015). Further, the lactosylation reaction occurs during storage of the powders where temperature and humidity are important factors (Norwood et al., 2017, Aalaei et al., 2016, Perevra Gonzales et al., 2010). However, lactosylation of proteins can affect the functional properties of the proteins, such as emulsifying and foaming capacity, and the solubility (Thomas et al., 2004). Nacka et al. (1998) and Groubet et al. (1999) observed enhanced emulsifying and foaming properties of lactosylated proteins. However, as the lactosylation continues, the proteins might become less flexible due to an increased number of lactose residues and thus become less effective as emulsifying agents. Nacka et al 1998 observed a higher solubility of proteins substituted with lactose. On the other hand, Stapelfeldt et al. (1997) observed a decreased solubility of milk powders as the hydroxymethylfurfural content (Maillard reaction product) increased. However, lactosylation, which is the first step in the Maillard reaction, may not be the stage responsible for the decrease in the solubility of milk powders.

To evaluate the effect of lactosylation of α -la and β -lg on rehydration properties in this thesis, serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 and 60/40 powders with varying fractions of native and denatured proteins were investigated (**Paper III, IV**). To induce lactosylation of the proteins, the powders were stored at $a_w 0.23$, at 30°C for 25 days. An a_w of 0.23 was used in order to avoid recrystallization of the lactose. The serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 system was chosen as it is expected to observe larger effects in a powder with a high amount of lactose and where a large fraction of the bulk proteins can be found on the surface (~15%) (Landström et al., 2000). The serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 60/40 system was chosen as it more similar in composition to commercial powders.

Rehydration properties

Powder rehydration is essential as the powder needs to be fully dissolved in order to express their functional properties as well as to fulfil the specified chemical composition and nutrient content in the final product (Kinsella, 1984, Crowley et al., 2016). A powder with poor rehydration characteristics does not only affect consumer perception, but also causes challenges at the industrial level in relation to wetting as a unit operation (Schubert et al., 2003, Hellborg et al., 2012, Forny et al., 2011). It is therefore of great importance to understand the parameters that affects powder rehydration characteristics.



Figure 7.

The rehydration stages of agglomerated whey powder. 1. Wetting, 2. Sinking, 3. Disintegration and 4. Dissolution (Adapted from Forny et al. (2011)).

The rehydration stages of whey powders are usually divided into wettability, sinkability, dispersibility, and solubility (Freudig et al., 1999). Wettability refers to the capacity of the powder particle to absorb water onto the surface, whereas sinkability is the ability of the particle to sink into water. Dispersibility refers to the ability of individual particles to disperse from lumps and agglomerates. The final stage, solubility, corresponds to the separation between molecules of the powder constituents (Freudig et al., 1999). An overview of the different rehydration stages is displayed in Figure 7. It should be noted that swelling of powder particles is another stage that affects the rehydration process, especially for casein powders. However, swelling is not applicable for whey proteins as these globular proteins binds much less water compared to caseins (Kinsella, 1984). The rehydration stages are affected by several factors such as powder composition, particle size, degree of agglomeration, particle density, and chemical composition at the powder particle surface (Lillford and Fryer, 1998, Fäldt and Bergenståhl, 1994, Gaiani et al., 2007). For example, the wetting rate of powders is favoured by small hydrophilic molecules at the surface. A high surface coverage of proteins shows slower wetting rates compared to lactose dominated particle surfaces (Nijdam and Langrish, 2006). In addition, if fat is present in the powders, some of the fat will be present on the particle surface which also has a negative impact on the wetting rate (Fäldt, 1995). Gaiani et al. (2009) observed by using a turbidity sensor that the wettability of WPI powders were poor compared to native phosphocaseinate powders. Further, the turbidity profile showed quite much scattering during the wetting stage, which was suggested to be caused by lump formation. Vos et al. (2016) investigated the water transfer into milk protein concentrate (MPC) powders using Broadband Acoustic Resonance Dissolution Spectroscopy. The results indicated that the water transfer into the MPC powder particles became inhibited as the protein content of the MPC powders increased (Vos et al., 2016). Furthermore, the authors observed that the water transfer into the particles with a high protein content continued after the wetting. On an industrial powder bed scale, wetting is governed by capillary forces. A slow wetting rate may lead to gelling of the liquid front which will have a negative impact of the reconstitution process and cause the formation of lumps. In a study performed by Börjesson et al. (2017), the authors found that a large fraction of air was trapped in the imbibed volume during imbibition of a powder bed. A powder bed refers to the dried powder layer that is formed when adding large amounts of powder to a liquid.

To enhance the rehydration characteristics, powder particles can be agglomerated (Pietsch, 2004). Agglomerates are usually produced using a fluidized bed where a binder is sprayed onto the particles. The binder can be water/steam, whey solution or lecithin solution (Pietsch, 2004). The binder makes the particle sticky, allowing the particles to bind to each other. Consequently, agglomerates consist of several powder particles. Studies have shown that the wettability of whey powders often is

enhanced by agglomeration due to the formation of larger pores which favours water penetration (Pietsch, 2004, Gaiani et al., 2007). However, Ji et al. (2016) observed that agglomeration of whey powders had no beneficial effect on dispersibility as it does not affect the structure of the primary particles. Another way to enhance the wettability of whey powders is to use lecithin. A high coverage of lecithin of the particles results in faster wetting (Ji et al., 2017). However, today more and more consumers demand clean labels with few or no additives which challenges the industry to produce food products with less additives (Asioli et al., 2017). In this thesis, non-agglomerated powders have been characterized.

The rate-controlling step for whey protein powders is the wetting ability (Baldwin and Sanderson, 1973, Gaiani et al., 2007, Ji et al., 2016). When whey powder particles come in contact with water, gelatinous impermeable layer can be formed on the interface between the solids and solution thereby making difficulties for the water to penetrate into the powder matrix (Ji et al., 2016). In this thesis, the wetting of the powders has been estimated by evaluating the spontaneous and forced imbibition, respectively. The spontaneous imbibition was estimated by recording the time for a water droplet to penetrate a powder bed (**Paper II**, **V**). The technique only requires a small amount of powder and requires very few sample preparations steps. However, it should be noted that as the water penetrates the powder bed, some of the powder will dissolve. The forced imbibition rate of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders with a fraction of denatured and aggregated proteins was, in this thesis, evaluated by measuring the change is absorbance (at 600 nm) as a function of time during reconstitution of the powders (Paper IV,V). The change in absorbance is caused by the protein aggregates. De Wit and Klarenbeek (1986) used a similar approach to estimate the rehydration properties of protein-rich powders. To measure the change in absorbance, powder is evenly distributed on a water surface, and gentle stirring is applied. The solution is then pumped through a flowthrough cuvette, which is placed in a spectrophotometer (at 600 nm). The following equation (1) was used to calculate the forced imbibition rate (v) ($mg \cdot min^{-1}$):

$$v = \frac{m}{t_{Abs2} - t_{Abs\,1}} \tag{1}$$

where t_{Abs2} is the time (min) when the absorbance stabilized, t_{Abs1} is the time (min) when the absorbance deviated from 0, and m the mass of the powder (mg). The method is further described in **Paper IV.** A strong advantage is that only a small amount of material is needed (0.2% w/w), and it is possible to both get information about wetting and dissolution. This method was chosen because its ability to handle even poorly rehydrating powders compared to other standard methods, such as GEA Niro wettability test and IDF dispersiability and wettability test (Niro, 2005, IDF, 1979). On the other hand, some powders give a very low turbidity due to a low concentration of proteins or that the majority of the proteins is in the native state.

Thus, the technique is most suitable for powders that are turbid after reconstitution, such as heat treated and aggregated proteins. The dissolution rate of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders in **Paper II** were estimated using a flow-cell based *in-situ* method developed by Börjesson et al. (2013). The technique is based on immobilization of powder particles/aggregates by compression between two object glasses. The dissolution of the powders was followed using an inverted light microscope. The recording of the flow measurements was performed as described in Börjesson et al. (2013). The calculations of the dissolution rate were based on the following relationship (2):

$$N = \frac{dV}{dt}, V = A \cdot h \tag{2}$$

where N is the dissolution rate $(m^3 \cdot s^{-1})$, V the volume of the powder bed (m^3) , t the time (s), A the area of the powder bed (m^2) , and h the height of the flow channel (m). Figure 8 shows a schematic overview of the technique By using this method, the rehydration process can be dynamically monitored starting with a dry powder and then followed in a controlled liquid flow (Börjesson et al., 2013). Another important aspect is that the flow cell allows for investigation of dissolution, separated from wetting and dispersion properties. However, only a limited number of powder aggregates can be investigated at a time with this technique and it is quite laborious. Also, some erosion of the powder bed can occur due to the liquid flow and that can influence the outcome.



Figure 8.

Schematic overview of the flow cell adapted from Börjesson et al. (2013). The graph shows the output from the image analysis. The volume goes down to zero due to the waterfront passage in the flow cell chamber. The dashed arrow shows the powder after the waterfront has passed. The thickness of the metal shim is 40µm and the distance between the water inlet and outlet is 28 mm. The image is not in scalar proportions. For further description, see **Paper II**.

Surface rheology of the feed and particle morphology

The surface rheology of the droplet of the liquid feed is assumed to be an important parameter to explain the particle morphology of spray-dried particles (Elversson and Millqvist-Fureby, 2006, Nuzzo et al., 2015a). Dynamic surface tension is a suitable method to follow the adsorption of surface-active compounds, such as proteins, to the air/water interface of a droplet. Six different serum protein/lactose (% w/w) systems (17.5% total solids) and five serum protein/lactose 40/60 system (15% total solids) with microgels and fractal aggregates, respectively, with varying amount of native serum proteins were analysed for 2 400 s using the pendant drop technique (**Paper I, V**).

Surface pressure of the feed

The effect of the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) ratio on the surface pressure as a function of time is presented in Figure 9 (**Paper I**).



Figure 9.

The surface pressure of serum protein/lactose (% w/w, dry weight) solutions as a function of time. The time to form a droplet (3 s) is added to the time of measurement. All solutions have a total dry matter of lactose and protein of 17.5% (w/w): 0.1/99.9 (black); 1/99 (dark-yellow); 10/90 (grey); 40/60 (green); 60/40 (orange); 100/0 (blue). Standard error of mean is displayed (n=3) (**Paper I**).

As seen, all the systems show a surface activity and an effect on the protein concentration. As shown in Paper I, the surface pressure at 0.3 s, which is the estimated life-time of a droplet in the wet-zone in a laboratory spray dryer (Fäldt, 1995), of the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) system 0.1/99.9 (0.018% of proteins) did not deviate from 0 when data from the surface pressure measurements were extrapolated. This implies that less than 50% of a monolayer has adsorbed at the interface (Tripp et al., 1995). On the other hand, the surface pressure at 0.3 s for the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 system was estimated to 2.7 mN·m⁻¹, which indicates that 50 to 100% of a full protein monolayer has adsorbed to the interface. Formation of monomolecular surface films at the air/water interface can be described by the surface pressure-area isotherm (Larsson, 1994) (Figure 10a). At low protein concentrations, and where the area/molecule ratio is large, the monolayer is considered to be in a gaseous state, characterized by a low surface pressure. As the area/molecule decreases, the monolayer adopts from a gaseous state to a liquid-expanded state, followed by a liquid-condensed state which is characterized by a higher surface pressure. Thus, for the serum protein/lactose (% w/w 0.1/99.9 system, it is suggested that the surface layer is in the gaseous state and that a non-continuous protein layer has adsorbed to the interface of the system at 0.3 s. As the protein concentration increases in the system, the adsorbed protein at the interface becomes more densely packed. Between the serum protein/ lactose $(\% \text{ w/w}) 1/99 (2.7 \text{ mN} \cdot \text{m}^{-1})$ and $10/90 (17.4 \text{ mN} \cdot \text{m}^{-1})$ there is a steep increase in the surface pressure at 0.3 s but a moderate increase in the protein surface coverage, which implies that the system has undergone transition from a liquid-expanded to a liquid-condensed phase (see Figure 10b).



Figure 10.

a) Pressure-area isotherm where the structure of the protein surface layer are indicated; G(gaseous); LE (liquid expanded), LC (liquid condensed), and C (condensed) represents the states of the two-dimensional surface layer. Modified from Larsson (1994). b) Extrapolated surface pressure of serum protein/lactose solutions at 0.3 s after drop formation of the pendant drop as a function of protein surface coverage of the particles (**Paper I**). Serum protein/lactose (% w/w) system from left to right: 0.1/99.9, 1/99, 10/90, 40/60, 60/40 and 90/10. The standard error of mean is displayed (n=2).

The surface pressure of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 40/60 systems containing either microgels or fractal aggregates with varying fractions of native proteins are shown in Figure 11. There is no conclusive trend for the microgel system in relation to the amount of native proteins in the solutions. However, the surface pressure at the end of measurements (2 400 s) did not vary to a large extent between the microgel systems (27 to 30 mN·m⁻¹). The surface pressure of the fractal aggregate systems was lower compared to the microgel systems. This could be expected as the pH in the systems containing fractal aggregates was 8.6 compared to 7.3 in the microgel system. With increasing pH from the isoelectric point (~5 for β -lg), the electrostatic repulsion between charged groups increases which results in less closely packed proteins at the interface (Meissner at al., 2015). In addition, all the systems investigated had a fraction of native proteins, thus, it could be expected that the interface is dominated by these proteins.



Figure 11.

The surface pressure of serum protein/lactose 40/60 (% w/w, dry weight) solutions with varying fractions of aggregated and native proteins as a function of time; a) microgels and b) fractal aggregates. The vaules are given as the percentage of the total native protein in microgel/fractal aggregate solutions counted on dry matter; 1.5/5 (black); 1.5/4.8 (orange); 4.8/8.0 (grey); 20/20(green); 32/32(blue). The standard error of mean displayed (n=3) (**Paper V**).

Maticorena et al. (2018) observed when investigating WPI systems (80-120 g·kg⁻¹, pH 6.5) with different degrees of aggregation (0-80%) that the surface pressure was only slightly affected by the degree of aggregation. The systems with an aggregation degree of 20-80% showed to have a surface pressure of 19 and 21 mN·m⁻¹ whereas the native system had a surface pressure of around 23 mN·m⁻¹ after 300 s of measurements with the pendant drop technique. This finding indicates that the native protein fraction dominates the adsorption to the interface. On the other hand, Mahmoudi et al. (2011) observed that the surface pressure was slightly lower for native WPI (0.5 g·L⁻¹, pH 7.0) system compared to the more aggregated systems (heat treated between 80 to 120°C for 17 to 219 s), ranging from 20 to 23 mN·m⁻¹ after 300 s. The system heated at 120°C had approximately 5% residual proteins.

The authors suggested that the non-aggregated proteins in the system dominated the adsorption. Further, when β -lg is heat treated above 60°C at neutral pH, it dissociates from dimers to monomers (Cairoli et al., 1994). Based on this, Mahmoudi et al. (2011) suggested that all residual β -lg molecules were in the monomeric state in the heat-treated systems, and thus, diffused more quickly to the interface compared to the dimers in the native system resulting in the increased surface pressure.

Modulus of elasticity of the feed

By inducing oscillations of the droplet in the pendant drop experiment it is possible to obtain the surface rheological parameters. Adsorption, attachment and conformational changes of surface-active compounds at the droplet surface, as well as lateral interactions between the molecules at the surface, influence the droplet surface rheology.



Figure 12.

Modulus of elasticity of serum protein/lactose (% w/w, dry weight) solutions as a function of time. The dry matter content of lactose and protein was kept constant to 17.5% (w/w) in all solutions. 0.1/99.9 (black), 1/99 (dark yellow), 10/90 (grey), 40/60 (green), and 90/10 (blue). Standard error of mean is displayed (n=3) (**Paper I**).

The modulus of elasticity of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) systems are shown in Figure 12 (**Paper I**). The modulus of elasticity increases with increasing protein concentration with an exception for the system 0.1/99.9. This deviation is discussed in **Paper I**. As can be seen in Figure 12, the modulus of elasticity at the beginning of the measurements become lower with increasing serum protein concentration. At higher protein concentrations, a more complex surface is expected to be formed

including the protein diversity of the SPC. Such a surface layer is expected to display a lower surface elasticity, particularly if the system is not fully equilibrated. As the SPC is a chemically complex system, heterogeneities in the adsorbed layer (lateral phase separation) may be expected which is expected to cause a reduction in the modulus of elasticity.



Figure 13.

The modulus of elasticity of serum protein/lactose 40/60 (% w/w, dry weight) solutions with varying fractions of aggregated and native proteins as a function of time; a) microgels and b) fractal aggregates. The values are given as the percentage of the total amount of native protein in microgel/fractal aggregate solutions counted on wet matter (6% protein); 0.3/1.0 (black); 0.3/0.9 (orange); 0.9/1.5 (grey); 3.7/3.8(green); 6.0/6.0(blue). The standard error of mean is displayed (n=2).

Figure 13 shows the modulus of elasticity measurements of microgels and fractal aggregates as a function of time (**Paper V**). As can be seen for the microgels system (Figure 13a), the modulus of elasticity is highest (~45 mN·m⁻¹ at 2 400 s) for the systems with the lowest concentration of native proteins. As the native protein fraction increases to 60% in the system, the modulus of elasticity decreases to around 30 mN·m⁻¹. For the fractal aggregate systems, the opposite is observed (Figure 13b). As the native protein fraction increases in the powders, the modulus of elasticity increases from 20 to 36 mN·m⁻¹. Overall, microgels contribute to a stiffer interface compared to fractal aggregates. Similar findings have been observed in a study by Mahmoudi et al. (2011) where larger aggregates formed solid-like layers whereas system with a high amount of native proteins and fractal aggregates formed more fluidlike layers. The modulus of elasticity of an adsorbed protein layer depends on the ability of the protein molecules to rearrange upon a change in surface area. For example, flexible random coil proteins have the ability to rearrange rather quickly, hence, they exhibit low modulus of elasticity whereas globular proteins being slow in rearrangement display much higher modulus of elasticity (Narsimhan, 2016).

Particle morphology related to surface rheology of the feed

The surface rheology of the interface of the droplet is assumed to influence the particle morphology of the dried particle. Large and less flexible molecules that have adsorbed at the interface generate a stiff surface layer, which induces a high modulus of elasticity. Further, the concentration of surface-active molecules adsorbed at the interface, such as proteins, influences both the surface pressure and the modulus of elasticity. An elastic interface would result in a film that does not easily break or contract as the droplet shrinks resulting in dented and ridged particles. On the other hand, an interface with poor elasticity and low surface pressure is expected to contract as the droplet shrinks during drying resulting in smooth particles. The morphology of the powder particles in this thesis was examined using SEM.



Figure 14.

Scanned electron micrographs of spray-dried serum protein/lactose particles (% w/w, dry weight); a) 0.1/99.9, b)1/99, c) 10/90, d) 40/60, e) 60/40 and f) 90/10. The scale bars correspond to 1µm. Magnification 5 000 x (**Paper I, II**).

Figure 14 shows SEM micrographs of SPC powder particles with varying ratios of serum protein and lactose (**Paper I, II**). As seen, the particle morphology depends on the protein concentration in the powders. The particle morphology of the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 0.1/99.9 powder has totally smooth particles (Figure 14a).

As the protein concentration increases to 1% (w/w), the particles become covered with a high frequency of dents and thin ridges (Figure 14b). Further, the smaller particles (\leq 3µm) are either smooth or partially dented. At protein concentrations \geq 10% (w/w), the frequency of dents and ridges decreases but they tend to become deeper and thicker, respectively (Figure 14c-e). In the powder with the highest serum protein concentration of 90% (w/w), the particles display a single or a few dents (Figure 14f). Similar morphologies have been observed previously in WP/lactose powders (Fäldt and Bergenståhl, 1994, Nuzzo et al., 2015a).

Based on these observations in serum protein/lactose (% w/w) systems, it is suggested that the surface pressure plays an important role for the surface deformation, particularly at low protein concentrations (<1% w/w) where the area/molecule is large. As the protein concentration increases to 1% (w/w), it is assumed that the adsorbed protein layer moves from gaseous state towards a liquid-expanded state. As the protein concentration increases to ≥ 10 % (w/w), the modulus of elasticity seems to be the most prominent surface property while explaining the particle morphology (Figure 15). It is assumed that the adsorbed monolayer goes from liquid-expanded to liquid-condensed state as the interface becomes more densely packed with proteins. As a result, the modulus of elasticity increases, and the particles become more dented and ridged.



Figure 15.

Schematic overview of the particle morphology, and how it is related to the surface properties of the feed. G (gaseous), LE(liquid expanded), and LC (liquid condensed) represents the two-dimensional surface layer (Paper I).

One interesting question is how the particle morphology is affected by the aggregation state of the serum proteins (**Paper V**). Serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 40/60 powders containing varying fractions of native and aggregated proteins (microgels and fractal aggregates) are shown in Figure 16. Overall, the microstructure of the particles is fairly similar where the particles are covered with dents and ridges. Figure 16 shows a native serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 40/60 powder. As seen, the particles are covered by 10 to 20 dents and 0.5 to 1.5µm thick ridges. Further, the small particles ($<3\mu$ m) is very similar in appearance compared to the larger ones ($>5\mu$ m).



Figure 16.

Particle morphology of aggregated serum protein/lactose 40/60 (% w/w) powders with varying ratios of native proteins. a) Microgels (1.5% native proteins), b) microgels (11% native proteins), c) microgels (20% native proteins), d) fractal aggregates (5% native proteins), e) fractal aggregates (13% native proteins), and f) non-aggregated (100% native proteins) (**Paper V**). The scale bars correpsonds to 10μm. Magnification 2 000 x.

However, comparing the native powder with microgel powders (Figure 16a-c), some differences can be distinguished. The powders with a high fraction of microgels have fewer dents and thicker ridges compared to the powder with only native proteins. Furthermore, the ridges are covered by shrivels, which are not seen in the native serum protein/lactose powder (Figure 16f). The shrivels are expected to be caused by the protein aggregates found at or just underneath the particle surface as they tend to decline in number as the native protein fraction increases in the powders. Also, the smaller particles (<3µm) are folded in a different way where ridges and dents cannot be differentiated to the same extent as for the larger particles. The observed differences could be caused by a faster drying rate (Vehring et al., 2007). The time for native proteins to diffuse and adsorb to the interface of small droplets before a skin has formed is shorter compared to larger droplets. Thus, it is suggested that the smaller particles have more aggregated proteins at or just underneath the surface compared to the larger particles. Further, the size of the aggregates (~250 nm) is relatively large compared to the size of the small particles. The morphology of the fractal aggregate particles is very similar to the native serum protein/lactose particles (Figure 16f), but it is possible to distinguish some shrivels on the particle surface for the powder with a high fraction of fractal aggregates (Figure 16d-e).

Connecting these observations to the modulus of elasticity, the microgel systems with a low fraction of native proteins (1.5%) displayed a high modulus of elasticity (42–45 mN·m⁻¹), which resulted in powder particles with a low frequency of dents as well as thick and shrivelled ridges. As the native protein fraction increased in the microgel system, the modulus of elasticity decreased, and the particles became covered with a higher frequency of dents and thinner ridges. A similar observation was made in the native serum protein/lactose (% w/w) system where a high modulus of elasticity resulted in particles with few dents and thick ridges (Figure 15). The modulus of elasticity and the particle morphology (Figure 16d-e) of the fractal aggregate systems (19-31 mN·m⁻¹) was lower compared to the microgel system and more similar to the native serum/protein (% w/w) 40/60 system. Thus, the type of aggregate contributes differently to the stiffness of the interface. A system with a high fraction of microgels results in a stiffer interface compared to fractal aggregates, which is most probably caused by their size and low flexibility.

External and internal distribution of powder constituents

The external distribution of proteins at the particle surface was estimated using XPS (**Paper I, V**). SEM was used to characterize the external and internal particle morphology (**Paper IV, V**). The internal distribution of powder constituents was mapped by scanning powder particles in depth (xz-scan) and in the horizontal plane (xy-scan) using CRM (**Paper II**).



Figure 17.

The protein surface coverage of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders as a function of the native amount of proteins in the powders. Data from **Paper I** (white), and **Paper V** (microgel powders - medium-grey and fractal aggregate powders - dark-grey).

The protein surface coverage of spray-dried serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powder particles are displayed in Figure 17. The protein surface coverage of the particles increases with bulk protein concentration in the powders (circles with no filling in Figure 17). At low protein concentrations (\leq 1%), the protein surface coverage shows a steep increase from 31 to 54% and thereafter a linear increase between 1-90% (w/w) of serum proteins. These findings have been observed in previous studies on dairy powders (Fang, Wang, & Bhandari, 2013; Kelly et al., 2015; Nuzzo, Millqvist-Fureby, et al., 2015). The native serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 40/60

powders show good reproducibility comparing the protein surface coverage from two different batches of SPC (Paper I, Paper V). As shown in Paper V, the protein surface coverage of aggregated (microgels and fractal aggregates) serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 40/60 powders with varying amounts of native proteins (1.5-5%, dry weight) was between 67 and 70%, and thus similar to the 40/60 powder with 32% native proteins (72%). However, the amount of native (soluble) proteins differed considerably between these powders, thus, the protein surface coverage was recalculated based on the total amount of soluble proteins in the powder by using the linear relationship between the protein surface coverage and protein concentration for the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders 1/99 to 90/10 from Paper I. It was postulated that the protein aggregates were more less inert relative to the surface as it could be expected that a large fraction of the aggregates is insoluble and that the remaining fraction of soluble aggregates have a slow diffusion to the interface due to their hydrodynamic radius. The result of the recalculation on the soluble protein fraction (1.5-5%) is displayed in Figure 17 (medium-grey and dark-grey circles). As seen, the protein surface coverage is 10-15% higher compared to the powders in **Paper I** that have a similar soluble protein fraction. This implies that the protein aggregates are not fully inert relative to the surface as the protein is 'overrepresented' at the particle surface in these systems relative to the soluble protein fraction.



Figure 18.

Scanned electron micrographs of serum protein/lactose (% w/w, dry weight) powders. The values in brackets display the total fraction of native α -la and β -lg. a) 1/99 (100%), b) 1/99 (67%), c) 1/99 (51%), d) 60/40 (99%), e) 60/40 (69%), and f) 60/40 (46%). Scale bars correspond to 10 μ m in a) to-c) and 1 μ . I d) to f). Magnification 2 000x (a-c) and 5 000x (d-f) (**Paper III**, **IV**).

However, protein aggregates located just underneath a thin native protein surface layer (<8 nm) can contribute to the elemental composition at the surface. Therefore, the protein aggregates present at the surface could be somewhat lower than 10-15%.

Protein aggregates are normally formed as a consequence of heat treatment as globular proteins are rather heat sensitive. A common processing step in the production of whey powders is heat treatment of the feed prior to spray drying. In this thesis, the appearance of the particles after heat treatment at 70, 75 and 80° C for 15 s was evaluated in serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 and 60/40 (Paper III, IV). The 1/99 system was chosen as a large fraction of the bulk protein will be present at the particle surface (~15%) (Landström, 2000) whereas serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 60/40 is more similar to commercial powders. Figure 18 shows some examples of the powder particle morphology for these systems. Even though a large fraction of the native proteins is denatured (\sim 50%) in the powders, only small changes could be observed in the particle morphology. For the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 powders, the size of the smooth and spherical particles tends to become larger as the amount of native serum proteins decreases in the powders. A possible explanation for this could be that the time for the protein to diffuse to the surface of a smaller droplet during spray drying is limited due to a faster drying time compared to larger droplets. In addition, as a consequence of increasing heating temperature, larger fractions of the proteins could be expected to have become insoluble. Further, it could be expected that soluble aggregates diffuse slower to the interface compared to native proteins due to a larger hydrodynamic radius. In the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 60/40 powders, the smaller particles $(<3\mu m)$ tend to change in appearance as the native fraction of proteins decreases. For the larger particles (> 3μ m), the number of dents is slightly reduced, and the ridges tend to become thicker and covered with a few shrivels. This was also seen for the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 40/60 particles where a large fraction of the protein was aggregated (Figure 16).

One interesting question is, thus, how the interior of the particles looks like. SEM micrographs revealed that protein aggregates could be distinguished in the interior of the powder particles (Figure 19a-c) (**Paper IV**, **V**). The diameter (Z-average) of the microgels was estimated to be approximately 250-280 nm using dynamic light scattering (DLS) which is approximately the same size as the spherical objects in the SEM micrographs (**Paper V**).



Figure 19.

Cross-section of spray-dried serum protein/lactose (% w/w, dry weight) powder particles with varying fractions of aggregated and native proteins (**Paper IV**, **V**). The values in brackets are the total amount of native proteins in the powders. a) to c) display microgels and d) fractal aggregates. a) 60/40 (2.3%) b) 60/40 (6%), c) 40/60 (1.5%), d) 40/60 (5%), and 60/40 (32%).

In addition, cryo-TEM images revealed that the microgels were dense and spherical with a size close to the estimations from the DLS measurements (Figure 20a). Further, as seen in Figure 19b, the particle surface is much smoother in appearance compared to the vacuole. The internal structure at the vacuole are very rough whereas the particle surface is smoother in appearance and seems to be covered with a thin layer encapsulating the rough structure. Based on these observations, it is suggested that this thin layer could be a result of native proteins that have adsorbed to the surface during the drying. This is also supported by looking on the crosssection of the particles. The cross-section of the particles with protein aggregates (Figure 19a-c) is rougher in appearance compared to the smooth cross-section of the powder particle with only native proteins (Figure 19e). A smooth cross-section was also observed for fractal aggregate powders containing a low amount of native proteins (Figure 19d). In contrast to the microgels, the fractal aggregates are much smaller in size. A cryo-TEM image of the fractal aggregates after spray-drying and reconstitution is shown in Figure 20b. As seen, there is a large fraction of small aggregates with a size around 10-30 nm as well as clusters with a size around 100 nm. This was also confirmed using DLS. Hence, a large amount of the fractal aggregates is too small to be visually seen in the SEM micrographs.



Figure 20.

Cryo-transmission electron micrographs of microgels (a) and fractal aggregates (b) after spray drying and reconstitution. Scale bars correspond to $200\mu m$ (a) and $100\mu m$ (b). Magnification 40 000x in a) and 80 000x in b) (**Paper V**). The circle shows an example of contamination during the sample preparation with ethane. The dashed arrow marks a cluster aggregate and the solid arrows show examples of fractal aggregates.

The adsorption of surface-active components depends on several parameters such as hydrodynamic radius, diffusion coefficient, interactions between other components in the feed, pH and ionic strength (Porowska et al., 2015). As seen in Figure 9, the surface pressure tends to be higher in systems with a higher fraction of native proteins. Thus, this implies that native proteins adsorb to the interface to a larger extent compared to the denatured/aggregated proteins due to a higher surface activity as well as smaller hydrodynamic radius and hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity. Thus, a higher fraction of protein aggregates could then be expected to be found in the interior of the powder particle than at the powder particle surface. That could explain that the particle morphology on a microscale is rather similar independent of the degree of protein aggregation and denaturation, whereas the nanostructure (shrivels on the ridges) could be caused by protein aggregates situated at or just underneath the particle surface.

As shown in Figure 17, the protein surface coverage increased linearly between serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders 1/99 to 90/10 (**Paper I**). Hence, it could be assumed that the protein layer at the interface become thicker with increasing native protein content in the powders. The internal distribution of powder constituents in serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders 10/90, 40/60 and 60/40 are displayed in Figure 21 (**Paper II**). At a serum protein/lactose (% w/w) ratio of 10/90 (Figure 21a), a protein enriched domain (green) at the surface with an approximate thickness of 1µm is distinguishable. The protein rich domain is followed by a lactose-rich domain (red), and a phase segregation between the components is thus observed. As the serum protein concentration increases to 40% (w/w) (Figure 21b), the system becomes more heterogenous and it seems that a lactose-rich domain is found in the vicinity of the particle surface.



Figure 21.

Confocal Raman images of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powder particles. a) 10/90, b) 40/60 and c) 60/40. The scale bars correspond to 3µm. Green and red represent serum protein and lactose, respectively. The vertical line gives an example of an area that has been analyzed to obtain the signal from respective species. The relative signal at 0.5 can then be used to obtain the thickness of each domain. This is further discussed in **Paper II**.

A similar observation was made for the particles with a serum protein concentration of 60% (w/w) where the distribution is more heterogenous. For more CRM images, see **Paper II**.

The spatial resolution of CRM is around 300 nm, thus, if the protein domains become smaller in size as the protein concentration increases, the technique will not be able to differentiate them. However, similar observations have been made in studies using WP/lactose systems (Nuzzo et al., 2015c). At protein concentrations $\geq 10\%$ (w/w), the authors observed that the protein-rich domain tended to become thinner. To estimate the composition and the layer thickness in the vicinity of the particle surfaces in the CRM images, the location of the relative signal intensity reaching a value of 0.5 can be used. The relative intensity refers to the maximum of the intensity of respective species. The analysis was performed in a vertical direction and the white line in Figure 21a gives an example of an analysed location. Several particles with different morphologies (hollow as well as dented and ridged) were investigated for each serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powder. This is further described and discussed in Paper II. Figure 22 shows a summary of the surface layer thickness at several location of the powder particles as a function of the bulk protein concentration in the powders (Paper II). Here, it is clearly visualized that the protein-rich domain in the vicinity of the surface tends to become thinner with increasing protein concentration. However, the XPS revealed that the protein surface coverage of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 40/60 and 60/40 was 72 and 86%, respectively. Thus, the results from the CRM is interpreted as that the proteinrich domain in the vicinity of the surface becomes thinner than the resolution limit of this technique (~300nm) when the relative signal of lactose appears before the relative signal of serum protein. A possible explanation for this observation could be that the viscosity of the droplet of the feed increases during the drying, and gets more pronounced as the protein content increases in the feed, thereby slowing down

the diffusion of the globular proteins and, thus, resulting in smaller and less segregated phases (Porowska et al., 2015). Further, it has been observed that the particle morphology is quite diverse within the same powder sample which could be an effect of the drying time (Figure 14). Hollow particles could be formed if the surface of the droplet becomes ridged very quickly (Vehring, 2008). Further, the drying time for smaller particles is shorter than for larger ones, thus, it could be expected that less proteins have adsorbed to the surface causing the variation in the protein layer thickness in the vicinity of the powder particle.



Figure 22.

Thickness of serum protein enriched domain in the vicinity of the surface of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powder particles 10/90, 40/60 and 60/40 (% w/w) analysed with confocal Raman microscopy (**Paper II**).

Another type of particles observed in this thesis is large hollow particles with very thin walls. These types of particles can be formed if the surface becomes ridged very fast (Vehring et al., 2007). These different types of particles could cause variation in the thickness of the protein layer in the vicinity of the powder particle as well. As an example, Both (2019) observed that the morphology differed depending on the particle size of spray-dried WP/maltodextrin solutions. Larger particles where ridged and dented whereas smaller particles where hollow and smooth (Both, 2019). The authors explained this phenomenon as a result of a faster locking point of the smaller droplets, due to a faster heat and mass transfer than for the larger droplets. In addition, the author concluded that phase separation is unlikely to occur as drying time is very short during spray drying. Nevertheless, in this thesis, the results have indicated that at protein/lactose concentration $\leq 10/90$ (% w/w) phase separation does occur, however, it tends to become less pronounced as the protein concentration increases in the powders.

Rehydration properties of spray-dried SPC powders

The rehydration properties of spray-dried powders are expected to depend on the surface composition of the powder particles. Powders with a more hydrophilic surface is expected to show a faster wetting for example. The powders that were investigated had a volume-weighted diameter of 10 to $18\mu m$, and the moisture content in the powders varied between 1 and 4%.

Impact of protein/lactose ratio in powders

The rehydration properties of spray-dried SPC powders with varying ratios of serum protein and lactose were evaluated using a flow-cell based method. A powder bed was fixated between two object glasses, and the forced imbibition was measured by applying a controlled liquid flow. For more details, see **Paper II**. Figure 23a shows the dissolution rate of the powders.



Figure 23.

Dissolution rate $(m^3 s^{-1})$ (a) and spontaneous imbibition (s) (b) as a function of protein concentration in serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders (**Paper II**). Standard error of mean is displayed (a n=15 to 39 and b. n=6). The measurements are repeated on two powders with the same composition.

The dissolution rate decreases as the protein concentration increased in the powders (Figure 23a). The powder with 0.1 % w/w protein dissolved immediately as the waterfront passed the powder bed in the flow cell. Surprisingly, as the protein concentration increased to 1 % w/w, the dissolution rate decreased almost by two orders of magnitudes, but the change was very limited with further increase in protein concentration. This might be explained by the protein surface coverage of the powder particles (as shown in Figure 17). At the lowest protein concentration of 0.1 % (w/w), the protein surface coverage was estimated to 31% using XPS. As the protein concentration increased to 1% (w/w), the protein surface coverage increased to 54%. As discussed earlier, it is suggested that the proteins adsorb patch-wise at low protein concentrations (<1% w/w), and as the protein concentration increases to 1% (w/w), the proteins adsorb in a thin and evenly distributed layer. As the protein concentration increases further in the powders, the adsorbed proteins result in a continuous and dense surface layer. The reduction of hydrophilic lactose at the surface of the powder particle, as a consequence of the increasing amount of protein at the surface, may reduce the water transfer into the particle, thereby causing a slower dissolution rate. Vos et al. (2016) observed that the water transfer into MPC powder particles became inhibited as the protein concentration increased in the powders resulting in slower wetting. As the protein surface coverage increases, protein-protein interaction may be promoted, thus hindering the water to penetrate the particle, and thereby slow down the imbibition (Fyfe et al., 2011). Further, a rapid dissolution of the protein from the surface may also lead to an increased viscosity and gel formation within the inter-particle space.



Figure 24.

The time for spontaneous imbibition (s) as a function of protein surface coverage (%) of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders (**Paper I, II**).

Figure 23b shows the spontaneous imbibition of the powders as a function of the protein concentration in the powders. The spontaneous imbibition of the powders was estimated by measuring the time for a water droplet to penetrate a loosely packed powder bed. As seen in Figure 23b, the spontaneous imbibition time increased with the protein concentration. More interestingly, as shown in Figure 24, the spontaneous imbibition showed a positive linear correlation with the protein surface coverage which implies that the surface composition plays an important role for the spontaneous imbibition Similar findings were observed by Nijdam and Langrish (2006) and Gaiani et al. (2010) who found that the wetting rate of SMP and WPI powders, respectively, decreased with increasing amount of proteins present at the particle surface. In addition, it was observed in this thesis that the spontaneous imbibition of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders 40/60 prepared at a pH of 8.6 was longer (140 s) compared to powders prepared at pH 7.3 (67 s) (Paper V). As the pH increases, the proteins become more soluble due to repulsive forces between the charged groups of the proteins (Pelegrine and Gasparetto, 2005). As discussed earlier, proteins that dissolve faster might result in gel formation within the inter-particle space and, thus, result in a slower spontaneous imbibition time.

In addition, by using the flow-cell based method, it was possible to distinguish an interface between the dry and wetted powder (1-60 % w/w of protein) (**Paper II**). As the protein concentration increased to 90%, the powder seemed to become totally wetted by the water. Earlier studies have shown that a powder with good wettability more easily could form a gel resulting in slower imbibition rates and slower water penetration of the powder bed (Hellborg et al., 2012). Thus, the observed interface between the powder bed and the waterfront of the powders with less protein ($\leq 60 \%$ w/w) might actually be caused by a good wettability of the powder. In addition, Börjesson (2015) observed that a large amount of air was entrapped in a powder bed upon imbibition. These structures with entrapped air might cause a variation in the imbibition rates as well.

Impact of protein denaturation and lactosylation in SPC/lactose powders

Unfolded/denatured proteins are expected to have poorer wettability than native proteins due to exposed hydrophobic residues as the protein loses its' tertiary structure. Thus, it was of interest to investigate how the rehydration properties was affected by protein denaturation in sprav-dried serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders. The forced imbibition was estimated by measuring the change in absorbance as the powder was added to water under gentle stirring (Paper III, IV). The fraction of insoluble proteins was estimated using the Bradford method (Paper IV). Figure 25 shows the forced imbibition rate of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 and 60/40 powders as a function of the insoluble protein fraction. The insoluble protein fraction was varied in the powders by heating the feed between 70 to 80°C for 15 with or without additional lactose (a more detailed description can be found in Paper III). As seen, there is a slight reduction in the imbibition rate as the insoluble fraction of proteins increases in the powders. Even though the native fraction of proteins reduced with almost 50%, the forced imbibition rate decreases only 20-30% in both powder systems. It was expected to see larger differences in the imbibition rate of protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 powders compared to 60/40 as $\sim 15\%$ of the bulk protein would be present at the surface of these powder particles (Landström et al., 2000). Further, no differences in the insoluble protein fraction nor the forced imbibition rate could be distinguished depending on if the serum protein was heat-treated with or without additional lactose (Figure 25).



Figure 25.

Forced imbibition rate (mg·min⁻¹) of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders 1/99 (a) and 60/40 (b) as a function of insoluble proteins before (circles) and after storage (squares). Filling code – Heat treatment of feed for 15 s at 70°C (light grey), 75°C (medium grey), or 80°C (dark grey). Feed heat-treated with additional lactose are marked with an orange outline. The error bars illustrate the standard error of mean (n=4, n=2) (**Paper III**, **IV**).

In contrast to protein denaturation, lactosylation of whey proteins might improve the wettability due to increased hydrophilicity of the bound lactose molecule. To induce changes, the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 and 60/40 powders were stored at 30°C, at a_w 0.23 for 25 days. The degree of lactosylation was estimated using liquid chromatography - mass spectrometry. After storage, the lactosylation of α -la and β -lg significantly increased between 100 and 200% (**Paper III**). Figure 26 displays the forced imbibition rate of the powders as a function of the lactosylation of β -lg. As seen, the forced imbibition rate is not affected to a large extent by the lactosylation in none of the powder systems. Further, as seen in Figure 26, the lactosylation of β -lg are more pronounced in the powders with large fraction of proteins (60% w/w) and not in the powders with a high fraction of lactose (99%) w/w). When the study was designed, it was expected to observe the opposite effect where an excessive amount of lactose would result in enhanced lactosylation after storage. These findings imply that the surface composition is rather similar before and after storage of the powders as the forced imbibition rate was not affected to a large extent. Further, as a large fraction of the proteins at the surface could be expected to be native, it could be speculated that the lactosylation does not occur at the surface of the powder particle but rather in the interior of the powder particle. This has also been suggested by others (Norwood, 2016).



Figure 26.

Forced imbibition rate (mg·min⁻¹) of serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders 1/99 (a) and 60/40 (b) as a function of lactosylated β -lg before (circles) and after storage (squares). Filling code – Heat treatment of feed for 15 s at 70°C (light grey), 75°C (medium grey), or 80°C (dark grey). Feed heat-treated with additional lactose are marked with an orange outline. The error bars illustrate the standard error of mean (n=4, n=2) (**Paper III**, **IV**).

The microstructure and the distribution of the powder constituents in the powder particles might explain these observations. It is suggested that the rate of lactosylation is higher in protein-rich domains with low amounts of lactose than in lactose-rich domains with a low amount of proteins. As seen in Figure 22, the

protein-rich domain in the vicinity of the powder particle surface tended to become thinner as the protein concentration increased. This could either indicate that the protein domains become smaller in the powder particle or that the phase segregation become less pronounced as the viscosity of the feed increases as a result of the protein concentration. However, the CRM cannot give information of the distribution of small species domains (<300 nm). Thus, it is unclear how the protein domains are distributed in the particle matrix at higher protein concentrations (≥ 10 % w/w). However, as shown earlier, the SEM micrographs in Figure 19 revealed that protein aggregates were present in the interior of the powder particles. Based on this, a simplified schematic overview of the segregation between protein and lactose in the powder particle is shown in Figure 27. The two domain-forming states that are separated are a glassy state of lactose with dissolved protein and a glassy state of protein with dissolved lactose. Lactose is considered to be more soluble in the glassy state of protein than protein in a glassy state of lactose. Thus, from the observations in the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 1/99 system it can be concluded that the rate of lactosylation in the glassy state of lactose is slow (Figure 26a). On the other hand, the enhanced lactosylation in the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 60/40 system could be caused by the formation of a glassy protein phase with dissolved lactose. Such a state could be expected to have higher mobility and, thus, a higher reactivity than a lactose glass. Indeed, higher diffusion rates of water has been observed by Maidannyk et al. (2020). However, the reactivity of the molecules highly depends on its environment, temperature, and water activity (Roos, 1995).



Figure 27.

A simplified schematic overview of the segregation between lactose and protein in the interior of a spray-dried powder particle. Protein enriched layer at the particle surface followed by a two-phase region with a protein-rich and a lactose-rich phase (Paper III).

Nevertheless, earlier studies have indicated that denatured proteins have more available lysine groups as a result of the loss of the tertiary structure to react with compared to native proteins (Fenaille et al., 2004, Losito et al., 2010). Hence, to achieve a better understanding of how heat treatment affects the lactosylation of the whey proteins in the powders, it would be of interest to investigate the degree of lactosylation of denatured proteins as well.

Impact of aggregation state of whey proteins

Microgels and fractal aggregates were produced by heating SPC at pH 7.3 and 8.6 with a protein and lactose concentration of 60 and 90 g·L⁻¹, respectively, at 85°C for 15 minutes (**Paper V**). Unheated SPC was added in varying ratios to achieve systems with different degrees of native proteins. The protein/lactose ratio was kept constant (40/60 % w/w). The forced imbibition rate was estimated by measuring the change in absorbance upon reconstitution of the powder at 600 nm. The spontaneous imbibition was estimated by measuring the time for a water droplet to penetrate a loosely packed powder bed.

Table 6.

Spontaneous imbibition (s) and forced imbibition rate (mg·min⁻¹) of microgel (prepared at pH 7.3) and fractal aggregate (prepared at pH 8.6) serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 40/60 powders with varying amount of native proteins. The standard error of mean is displayed (n=3).

Amount of native serum protein (%, dry weight)	Spontaneous imbibition (s)		Forced imbibition (mg·min ⁻¹)	
Microgels/Fractals	Microgels	Fractals	Microgels	Fractals
1.5/5.3	156 ± 12	131 ± 6	144 ± 12	126 ± 14
1.5/5.0	104 ± 8	156 ± 3	137 ± 7	133 ± 1
3.2/6.7	111 ± 5	130 ± 12	139 ± 12	134 ± 4
4.7/7.8	105 ± 2	130 ± 4	138 ± 2	146 ± 5
10.7/13.2	104 ± 6	141 ± 12	140 ± 2	161 ± 7
15.1/16.5	104 ± 3	141 ± 5	147 ± 14	192 ± 23
19.6/20.1	95 ± 9	139 ± 14	172 ± 6	243 ± 12
32.0/-	67 ± 3	146 ± 4	204 ± 13	237 ± 19

The results of the imbibition measurements and the forced imbibition rate are displayed in Table 6. The forced imbibition rate of the microgel and fractal aggregate powders exhibit similar trends. At lower native protein fractions, the forced imbibition rate is more or less constant. However, when the amount of native protein increases to ~15% the forced imbibition rate increases in both powder systems but slightly more in the fractal aggregate powders. Further, the time for the spontaneous imbibition is overall lower for the microgel powders compared to the fractal aggregate powders (Table 6). As mentioned earlier, this observation could be caused by the enhanced solubility of the proteins, which might result in a faster gelling, in the fractal aggregate powders as a result of the pH of 8.6. This phenomenon can also be seen by comparing the powders with only native proteins prepared at pH 7.3 and 8.6, respectively, where the spontaneous imbibition time is more than the double for the powder with the higher pH (Table 6). Interestingly, the time for spontaneous imbibition decreases almost 30% between the two microgel powders with the lowest amount of native proteins (from 156 to 104 s). The difference between these systems is that 1% (w/w) of native serum protein was added to the system with a faster imbibition time. As the surface composition affects the wettability it could be speculated that the composition differs between these

powders. The powder with a faster spontaneous imbibition might be less hydrophobic compared to the powder with the slower imbibition time. As shown earlier in Figure 17, denatured and aggregated proteins seem to contribute to the protein surface coverage of the serum protein/lactose (% w/w) 40/60 powders containing a small fraction of native protein (1.5-5%, dry weight). Figure 28a shows the spontaneous imbibition time as a function of the native protein surface coverage. As shown earlier, there is a linear relationship between the spontaneous imbibition and the protein surface coverage from Paper I. It is interesting to notice that the native serum protein/lactose 40/60 (% w/w) powder from Paper V had a slower spontaneous imbibition time compared to the same serum protein/lactose ratio from **Paper I.** Thus, if the particle surface of the microgel powders only consisted of native proteins, the data points should be situated more closely to the native serum protein/lactose powder below the dashed line. Figure 28b shows the spontaneous imbibition time as a function of the estimated surface coverage of denatured proteins. As seen, the spontaneous imbibition time of the microgel powders (medium-grey filling in Figure 28) increases the more denatured and aggregated proteins present at the surface. This indicates that aggregated proteins at the particle surface reduce the wettability of the powders.



Figure 28.

Spontaneous imbibition (s) as a function of protein surface coverage (%) (a) and protein surface coverage of denatured proteins (b). Filling code – Data from Paper I (no filling), microgels from **Paper V** (medium grey), and fractal aggregates from **Paper V** (dark grey). The standard effor of mean is displayed. Protein surface coverage (n=2) and spontaneous imbibition (n=6) for data from **Paper I** and n=3 for data from **Paper V**.

Conclusions

In this thesis, spray-dried SPC/lactose powders have been investigated in varying ratios. The degree of denaturation and lactosylation have been altered and the rehydration properties have been examined. This thesis has shown:

- Possibilities to predict the particles morphology by estimating the surface rheology properties at the air/water interface of the feed droplet (**Paper I**, **Paper V**)
- As the protein concentration increases in the powders, it is suggested that the proteins become more densely packed at the particle surface but not necessarily result in a thicker protein layer (**Paper II**).
- The wettability of the powders showed a linear correlation with the protein surface coverage. Denatured proteins at the surface reduced the wettability of the powders (**Paper II, IV, V**).
- An increase of lactosylated β -lg from 10% to 35% in lactose-rich and protein-rich powders, respectively, had no impact on the rehydration properties (**Paper III, IV**).
- Protein denaturation and aggregation state of the proteins had a rather limited effect on the rehydration properties of the powders (**Paper IV**, **V**). It is suggested that the native proteins dominate the particle surface and that the aggregated proteins are mostly found in the interior of the powder particles.

Changes in composition and solution properties as well as physical state of milk serum proteins were shown not to have a major impact on the rehydration properties. The powders were shown to be quite robust against changes in the protein structure in relation to particle morphology and rehydration properties. As all systems investigated contained a fraction of native proteins, it is suggested that the particle surface is dominated by these proteins causing the small differences. Consequently, native serum proteins and lactose have shown to be potential to protect and encapsulate less surface-active components. This thesis has contributed to further understanding of how the microstructure and rehydration properties of spray-dried whey powders are affected by the feed properties. This knowledge can be used to formulate systems with improved rehydration characteristics.

Future perspectives

This thesis has provided a better understanding on how the surface composition, particle morphology and rehydration properties of spray-dried serum protein/lactose (% w/w) powders are affected by the protein content, degree of denatured proteins as well as the degree of lactosylation of α -la and β -lg. The results indicate that serum protein/lactose (% w/w) systems are quite robust against severe treatments as the rehydration properties and particle morphology were overall only slightly affected by protein denaturation and aggregation. It seems that native serum protein and lactose protect protein aggregates in the powder matrix as they adsorb to the surface of the droplet during the drying. Thus, it would be interesting to evaluate whether this kind of system could be used to encapsulate functional ingredients used in the food industry. Further, as laboratory spray-dried particles are rather small, it would be of interest to evaluate particles spray-dried in pilot scale in order to see if similar observations can be made on larger particles as in this thesis.

For future research, it is suggested to investigate how the structure of the protein aggregates is affected upon storage of spray-dried powders as it is essential that they keep their structure in order to fulfil their functional properties. However, to avoid lactosylation and reduction of lysine, it would be of interest to formulate powders with a non-reducing sugar instead of lactose to evaluate the functional properties and how the powder is affected upon storage.

As seen in the thesis, the results suggested that a fraction of denatured proteins were present at the particle surface and contributed to the protein surface coverage in serum protein/lactose with as large fraction of denatured and aggregated proteins. As this seemed to result in poorer wettability of the powders it would be interesting to further investigate the distribution of denatured/native proteins at the surface. To further understand the distribution of native and denatured proteins at the surface of the powder particle, a protein labelling technique could be used. Such a technique was developed by Landström et al. (1999), which is based on fluorescence quenching in gaseous phase of pyrene labelled proteins. Thus, by labelling the native proteins but not the denatured proteins at the powder particle surface could contribute to a further understanding of the rehydration phenomenon.

Acknowledgement

First, I would like to thank Arla Foods Ingredients (AFI), Denmark, for the financial support which made it possible for me to explore the 'wonders of whey'.

I would like to thank my supervisor **Maria Glantz** for her support and guidance throughout my PhD studies. Your door has always been open, and your organizing mind has been a privilege during my PhD.

To my co-supervisor **Marie "Pållan" Paulsson**. Thank you for introducing me to the dairy world where everyone seems to know your name. Also, thank you for your support and smile throughout my PhD. See you in the spinning class!

To my co-supervisor **Björn Bergenståhl**. Thank you for always taking the time when you had the time. I appreciate all the scientific discussions as well as the talks with random topics (everything between beaver safaris to mortgage interests in the 90s).

To my co-supervisor **Marcela Alexander** at AFI. Many thanks for your input in the project, as well as for the help with organizing my visits at AFI in Nr Vium. Your energy during the project meetings has been very appreciated as well as the hunts for the frozen SPC. Also, a big thank to my co-supervisor **Jacob Holm Nielsen** at AFI who initiated the project. Even though you got other assignments during the project you will always be remembered as the one who brought light to the Arla House. I wish to thank **Anny Frølund**, **Søren Bang Nielsen**, **Birgitte Pinholt**, **Kirsten Rytter Kristensen** and **Colin Ray** at AFI for the help with analytical methods, material and guidance throughout the project. Also, a big thank to all employees at R&D at AFI for the welcoming atmosphere during my visits.

I wish to thank **Anna Millqvist-Fureby** and **Jens Sommertune** at Research Institute of Sweden, Stockholm, Sweden. Anna, I have really appreciated the scientific discussions with you throughout the project. Jens, thank you for the help with the confocal Raman microscopy analyses. Also, thanks to both of you for the nice visit at RISE in Stockholm.

Thank you to **Daniel Madsen** at the Centre for Analysis and Synthesis, Lund University for all the help and guidance with the SEM analyses, and to **Anna Carnerup** at the Department of Physical Chemistry, Lund University, for the help with the cryo-TEM analyses.
Many thanks to the master students **Kadri Kraft** and **Niklas Hellström** for the contribution to this work.

A special thanks to my office mate **Kajsa Nilsson** for your support, weird sense of humour and all the laughs. You have made my PhD journey so much easier as I could share bad and good moments with you. You are a true friend! I will always be grateful for the moment when you introduced me to "Felix recenserar".

A big thanks to **Maria Rosenlöw**. I appreciate all our talks, laughs and all your wise ideas and thoughts. You will always be remembered as the person with the line "Jag har lyssnat på en P3 dokumentär".

Many thanks to the man, the myth, the economist **Peter Eklöv**. I appreciate all our weird discussions in the lunchroom as well as the supportive talks. One day, I will use the onion goggles and the pancake turner (it's a promise).

A big thank to **Dan Johansson** and **Hans Bolinsson** for the support and help with equipment, chemicals and for being awesome colleagues. Aida-Mary will miss the chats during the coffee breaks.

Thank you to all my colleagues that have contributed to this experience. I will miss the weird conversation topics in the lunchroom. It has been a privilege to be surrounded by people dedicated to science.

A warm thank to the PhD students and post-docs at the department. You have all contributed to a very nice atmosphere at the department. I will truly miss that.

A special thanks to my family for all support throughout my PhD studies.

Andréas Nilsson - thank you for being you. You are a special one and I am grateful that our paths crossed. You have always supported me and encouraged me to step out of my comfort zone. Together we have climbed mountains, my favourite one is Helags in Härjedalen.

Livet är som mjölkpulver, det löser sig förr eller senare.

References

- Aalaei, K., Rayner, M. & Sjöholm, I. 2016. Storage stability of freeze-dried, spray-dried and drum-dried skim milk powders evaluated by available lysine. *LWT - Food Sci. Technol.*, 73, 675-682.
- Anandharamakrishnan, C., Riley, C. D. & Stapley, A. G. F. 2007. Effects on process variables on the denaturation of whey proteins during spray-drying. *Drying Technol.*, 25, 799-807.
- Asioli, D., Aschermann-Witzel, J., Caputo, V., Vecchio, R., Annunziata, A., Næs, T. & Varela, P. 2017. Making sense of the "clean label" trends: A review of consumer food choice behavior and discussion of industry implications. *Food Research Inter.*, 99, 58-71.
- Baldwin, A. J. & Sanderson, W. B. 1973. Factors affecting the reconstitution properties of whole milk powder. N. Z. J. Dairy Sci. Technol., 8, 92-100.
- Berlin, E., Anderson, B. A. & Pallansch, M. J. 1968. Water vapour sorption properties of various dried milks and wheys. J. Dairy Sci., 51, 1339-1344.
- Both, E. M. 2019. *Powder morphology development during spray drying*. Doctoral thesis, Wageningen University.
- Both, E. M., Karlina, A. M., Boom, R. M. & Schutyser, M. A. I. 2018. Morphology development during sessile single droplet drying of mixed maltodextrin and whey protein solutions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 75, 202-210.
- Börjesson, E. 2015. *Powder bed structure and imbibition*. Doctoral thesis, Lund University.
- Börjesson, E., Innings, F., Trägårdh, C., Bergenståhl, B. & Paulsson, M. 2013. The dissolution behaviour of individual powder particles. *Dairy Sci. Technol.*, 93, 357-371.
- Börjesson, E., Karlsson, J., Innings, F., Trägårdh, C., Bergenståhl, B. & Paulsson, M. 2017. Entrapment of air during imbibition of agglomerated powder beds. J. Food Eng., 201, 26-35.
- Cairoli, S., Iametti, S. & Bonomi, F. 1994. Reversible and irreversible modifications of βlactoglobulin upon exposure to heat. J. Protein Chem., 13, 347-354.
- Carić, M. & Kalab, M. 1987. Effects of drying techniques on milk powders qulaity and microstructure: A review. J. Food Structure, 6, 171-180.

- Carr, A. J., Southward, C. R. & Creamer, L. K. 2003. Protein hydration and viscosity of dairy fluids. *In:* Fox, P. F. & McSweeney, P. L. H. (eds.) 3 ed. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- Caussin, F., Farmelart, M.-H., Maubois, J.-L. & Bouhallab, S. 2003. Mineral modulation of thermal aggregation and gelation of whey protein: from β -lg model system to whey protein isolate. *Le lait*, 83, 353-364.
- Charlesworth, D. H. & Marshall, W. R. 1960. Evaporation from drops containing dissolved solids. *AlChE J.*, 6, 9-23.
- Cotter, J. A. & Barr, D. 2012. Dietary protein efficacy: Dose and peri-exercise timing. *In:* Lowery, L. M. & Antonio, J. (eds.) *Dietary Protein and Resistence Exercise*. Boca Raton, USA: CRC Press.
- Crowley, S. V., Desautel, B., Gazi, I., Kelly, A. L., Huppertz, T. & O'Mahony, J. A. 2015. Rehydration characteristics of milk protein concentrate powders. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 149, 105-113.
- Crowley, S. V., Jeantet, R., Schuck, P., Kelly, A. & O'Mahony, J. A. 2016. Advanced dairy chemistry: Volume 1: Proteins, part B New York, Springer.
- De Wit, J. N. & Klarenbeek, G. 1986. Method for the determination of rehydration and solubility of powdered protein-rich milk products. *Milschwissenschaft*, 41, 463-467.
- Destribats, M., Rouvet, M., Gehin-Delval, C., Schmitt, C. & Binks, B. P. 2014. Emulsions stabilised by whey protein microgel particles: towards food-grade Pickering emulsions. *Soft Matter*, 10, 6941-6954.
- Dill, K. A. 1990. Dominant forces in protein folding. Biochemistry, 29, 7133-1755.
- Elversson, J. & Millqvist-Fureby, A. 2006. In situ coating—An approach for particle modification and encapsulation of proteins during spray-drying. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 323, 52-63.
- Esposito, R., Scherillo, G., Pannico, M., Musto, P., De Nicola, S. & Mensitieri, G. 2016. Depth profiles in confocal opticalmicroscopy: a simulation approachbased on the secondRayleigh-Sommerfeld diffractionintegral. *Optics Express*, 24, 12565-12576.
- Evans, J., Zuleweska, J., Newbold, M., Drake, M. A. & Barbano, D. M. 2010. Comparision of composition and sensory properteis of 80% whey protein and milk serum protein concentrates. *J. Dairy Sci.*, 93, 1824-1843.
- Fang, Y., Rogers, S., Selomulya, C. & Chen, X. D. 2012. Functionality of milk protein concentrate: Effect of spray drying temperature. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 62, 101-105.
- Farnfield, M. M., Trenerry, C., Carey, K. A. & Cameron-Smith, D. 2008. Plasma amino acid response after ingestion of different whey protein fractions. *Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr.*, 8, 1-11.
- Fenaille, F., Morgan, F., Parisod, V., Tabet, J. C. & Guy, P. A. 2004. Solid-state glycation of beta-lactoglobulin by lactose and galactose: localization of the modified amino acids using mass spectrometric techniques. J. Mass. Spectrom., 39, 16-28.

- Foerster, M., Gengenbach, T., Woo, M. W. & Selomulya, C. 2016. The impact of atomization on the surface composition of spray-dried milk droplets. *Colloids and Surf.*, B., 140, 460-471.
- Forny, L., Marabi, A. & Palzer, S. 2011. Wetting, disintegration and dissolution of agglomerated water soluble powders. *Powder Technol.*, 206, 72-78.
- Fox, P. F., Uniacke-Lowe, T., McSweeney, P. L. H. & O'Mahony, J. A. 2015. Dairy Chemistry and Biochemistry. 2 ed. Switzerland: Springer.
- Freudig, B., Hogekamp, S. & Schubert, H. 1999. Dispersion of powders in liquids in a stirred vessel. *Chem. Eng. Process.*, 38, 525-532.
- Friedman, M. 1996. The impact of the Maillard reaction on the nutritional value of food proteins. In: Ihan, R. (ed.) The Maillard reaction: Consequences for the Chemical and Life Sciences. New York: Wiley and Sons.
- Fyfe, K., Kravchuk, O., Nguyen, A. V., Deeth, H. & Bhandari, B. 2011. Influence of dryer type on surface characteristics of milk powders. *Drying Technol.*, 29, 758-769.
- Fäldt, P. 1995. Surface compositon of spray-dried emulsions. Doctoral thesis, Lund University.
- Fäldt, P. & Bergenståhl, B. 1994. The surface composition of spray-dried protein-lactose powders. *Colloids Surf.*, A, 90, 183-190.
- Fäldt, P., Bergenståhl, B. & Carlsson, G. 1993. The surface coverage of fat on food powders analyzed by ESCA (electron spectroscopy for chemical analysis). *Food Struct.*, 12, 225-234.
- Gagnaire, V., Lechevalier, V., Famelart, M.-H., Croguennec, T. & Bouhallab, S. 2020. The role of proteins in the development of food structue. *In:* Spyropoulos, F., Lazidis, A. & Norton, I. T. (eds.) *Handbook of Food Structure Development*. Cambridge, United Kingdom: The Royal Society of Chemistry.
- Gaiani, C., Boyanova, P., Hussain, R., Murrieta Pazos, I., Karam, M. C., Burgain, J. & Scher, J. 2011. Morphological descriptors and colour as a tool to better understand rehydration properties of dairy powders. *Int. Dairy J.*, 21, 462-469.
- Gaiani, C., Morand, M., Sanchez, C., Tehrany, E. A., Jacquot, M., Schuck, P., Jeantet, R.
 & Scher, J. 2010. How surface composition of high milk proteins powders influenced by spray-drying temperature. *Colloids Surf.*, *B*, 75, 377-384.
- Gaiani, C., Scher, J., Schuck, P., Desobry, S. & Banon, S. 2009. Use of a turbidity sensor to determine dairy powder rehydration properties. *Powder Technology* 190, 2-5.
- Gaiani, C., Schuck, P., Scher, J., Desobry, S. & Banon, S. 2007. Dairy powder rehydration: Influence of protein state, incorporation mode, and agglomeration. *J. Dairy Sci.*, 90, 570-581.
- Groubet, R., Chobert, J.-M., Haertle, T. & Nicolas, M. G. 1999. Functional properties of milk proteins glycated in mild conditions. *Sci. Aliments*, 19, 423-438.

- Guyomarc'h, F., Warin, F., Muir, D. D. & Leaver, J. 2000. Lactosylation of milk proteins during the manufacture and storage of skim milk powders. *Int. Dairy J.*, 10, 863-872.
- Haque, M. K. & Roos, Y. H. 2004. Water sorption and plasticization behavior of spraydried lactose/protein mixtures. J. Food Sci., 69, 384-391.
- Hellborg, D., Bergenståhl, B. & Trägårdh, C. 2012. The influence of powder properties on the imbibation rate. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 93, 108-115.
- Heraud, P., Marzec, K. M., Zhang, Q. H., Yuen, W. S., Carroll, J. & Wood, B. R. 2017. Label-free in vivo Raman microspectroscopic imaging of the macromolecular architecture of oocytes. *Sci. Rep.*, 7.
- Huffman, L. M. 1996. Proceesing whey protein for use as a food ingredient. *Food Technol.*, 1996, 49-52.
- Huppertz, T. & Gazi, I. 2016. Lactose in dairy ingredients: Effect on processing and storage stability. J. Dairy Sci., 99, 6842-6851.
- IDF 1979. Instant dried milk Determination of the dispersibility and wettability IDF 087. *International Dairy Federation*. Brussels, Belgium.
- IDF 2019. The world dairy situation 2019. *Bulletin of the International Dairy Federation* 501.
- Ji, J., Cronin, K., Fitzpatrick, D. & Miao, S. 2017. Enhanced wetting behaviours of whey protein isolate powder: The different effects of lecithin addition by fluidised bed agglomeration and coating processes. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 71, 94-101.
- Ji, J., Fitzpatrick, J., Cronin, K., Maguire, P., Zhang, H. & Miao, S. 2016. Rehydration behaviours of high protein dairy powders: The influence of agglomeration on wettability, dispersibility and solubility. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 58, 194-203.
- Jouppila, K. & H., R. Y. 1994. Water sorption and time-dependent phenomena of milk powders. J. Dairy Sci., 77, 1798-1808.
- Kelly, G. M., O'Mahony, J. A., Kelly, A. L., Huppertz, T., Kennedy, D. & O'Callaghan, D. J. 2015. Influence of protein concentration on surface composition and physicochemical properties of spray-dried milk protein concentrate powders. *Int. Dairy J.*, 51, 34-40.
- Kharlamova, A., Inthavong, I., Nicolai, T. & Chassenieux, C. 2016. The effect of aggregation into fractals or microgels on the charge density and the isionic point of globular proteins. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 60, 470-475.
- Kim, E. H.-J., Chen, X. D. & Pearce, D. 2009. Surface composition of industrial spraydried milk powders. 2. Effects of spray drying conditions on the surface composition,. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 94, 169-181.
- Kinsella, J. E. 1984. Milk proteins: physicochemical and functional properties. *Critical Rev. Food Sci.Nutrition*, 21, 197-262.

- Landström, K., Arnebrant, T., Alsins, J. & Bergenståhl, B. 2000. Competitive protein adsorption between β-casein and β-lactoglobulin during spray-drying: effect of calcium induced association. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 17, 103-116.
- Landström, K., Bergenståhl, B., Alsins, J. & Almgren, M. 1999. A fluorescence method for quantitative measurements of specific protein at powder surfaces. *Colloids Surf.*, *B*, 12, 429-440.
- Le, T. T., Bhandari, B. & Deeth, H. C. 2011. Chemical and physical changes in milk protein concentrate (MPC80) powder during storage. *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 59, 5465-5473.
- Lesme, H., Rannou, C., Loisel, C., Famelart, M.-H., Bouhallab, S. & Prost, C. 2019. Controlled whey protein aggregates to modulate the texture of fat-free set-type yoghurts. *Int. Dairy J.*, 92, 28-36.
- Lillford, P. J. & Fryer, P. J. 1998. Food particles and the problems of hydration. *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.*, 76, 797-802.
- Loglio, G., Pandolfini, P., Miller, R., Makievski, A. V., Ravera, F. & Ferrari, M. 2001. Drop and bubble shape analysis as tool for dilational rheology studies of interfacial layers. *In:* Möbius, D. & Miller, R. (eds.) *Novel methods to study interfacial layers* (*Studies in interface science*). Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier.
- Lollo, P. C. B., Amays-Farfan, J. & de Carvalho-Silvia, L. B. 2011. Physiological and physical effects of different milk protein supplements in elite soccer players. *J. Hum. Kinet.*, 30, 49-57.
- Losito, I., Stringano, E., Carulli, S. & Palmisano, F. 2010. Correlation between lactosylation and denaturation of major whey proteins: an investigation by liqud chromatography-electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Anal. Bioanl. Chem.*, 396, 2293-2306.
- Mahmoudi, N., Axelos, M. A. V. & Riaublanc, A. 2011. Interfacial properties of fractal and spherical whey protein aggregates. *Soft Matter*, 7, 7643-7654.
- Maidannyk, V., McSweeney, D. J., Hogan, S. A., Miao, S., Montgomery, S. A., M. A. E. & McCarthy, N. A. 2020. Water sorption and hydration in spray-dried milk protein powders: Selected physicochemical properties. *Food Chem.*, 304, Art. No. 125418.
- Manninen, A. H. 2009. Protein hydrolysates in sports nutrition. Nutr. Metab. (Lond), 6.
- Masters, K. 1991. Spray drying handbook, New York, Wiley.
- Maticorena, E., Alarcón, C., Troncoso, E. & Zúñiga, R. N. 2018. The degree of protein aggregation in whey protein isolate-based dispersions modifies their surfaceand rheological properties. J. Food, 16, 146-155.
- McCarthy, N. A., Gee, V. L., Hickey, D. K., Kelly, A. L., O'Mahony, J. A. & Fenelon, M. A. 2013. Effect of protein content on the physical stability and microstructure of a model infant formula. *Int. Dairy J.*, 29, 53-59.

- Mcguffey, M. K., Epting, K. L., Kelly, R. M. & Foegeding, E. A. 2005. Denaturation and aggreation of three α-lactalbumin preparations at neutral pH. *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 53, 3182-3190.
- Meerdink, G. 1994. Drying of liquid food droplets. Enzyme inactivation and multicomponent diffusion. *Drying Technol.*, 12, 981-982.
- Millqvist-Fureby, A., Elofsson, U. & Bergenståhl, B. 2001. Surface composition of spraydried milk protein-stabilised emulsions in relation to pre-heat treatment of proteins. *Colloids Surf. B*, 21, 47-58.
- Morr, C. V. 1989. Beneficial and adverse effects of water-protein interactions in selected dairy products. *J. Dairy Sci.*, 72, 575-580.
- Murrieta-Pazos, I., Gaiani, C., Galet, L. & Scher, J. 2012. Composition gradient from surface to core in dairy powders: Agglomeration effect. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 26, 149-158.
- Nacka, F., Chobert, J.-M., Burova, T., Léonil, J. & Haertlé, T. 1998. Induction of new physicochemical and functional properties by the glycosylation of whey proteins *J. Protein Chem.*, 17, 495-503.
- Narsimhan, G. 2016. Characterization of interfacial rheology of protein-stabilized airliquid interfaces. *Food Eng. Rev.*, 8, 367-392.
- Nijdam, J. J. & Langrish, T. A. G. 2006. The effect of surface composition on the functional properties of milk powders. *Journal of Food Engineering* 77, 919-925.
- Niro 2005. Wettability Niro method A 5 a. *GEA Niro analytical methods*. Soeborg, Denmark: GEA Niro.
- Norwood, E.-A. 2016. *Molecular and functional changes occurring during ageging of whey protein isolate powders.* Doctoral thesis, Universite Bretagne Loire.
- Norwood, E.-A., Pezennec, S., Burgain, J., Briard-Bion, V., Schuck, P., Croguennec, T., Jeantet, R. & Le Floch-Fouéré, C. 2017. Crucial role of remaning lactose in whey protein isolate powders during storage. *J. Food Eng.*, 195, 206-216.
- Nuzzo, M., Millqvist-Fureby, A., Sloth, J. & Bergenståhl, B. 2015a. Surface composition and morphology of particles dried individually and by spray drying. *Drying Technol.*, 33, 1-11.
- Nuzzo, M., Sloth, J., Bergenståhl, B. & Millqvist-Fureby, A. 2015b. Phase segregation in individually dried particles composed of biopolymers. *Langmuir*, 31, 10946-10954.
- Nuzzo, M., Sloth, J., Bradner, B., Bergenståhl, B. & Millqvist-Fureby, A. 2015c. Confocal Raman microscopy for mapping phase segregation in individually dried particles composed of lactose and macromolecules. *Colloids Surf.*, A, 481, 229-236.
- Oftedal, O. 2013. Origin and evolution of the major constituents of milk. *In:* McSweeney, D. J. & Fox, P. F. (eds.) *Advanced Dairy Chemistry*. New York: Springer Science.
- Pelegrine, D. H. G. & Gasparetto, C. A. 2005. Whey proteins as function of temperature and pH. *Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft und-Technology*, 38, 77-80.

- Pereyra Gonzales, A. S., Naranjo, G. B., Leiva, G. E. & Malec, L. S. 2010. Maillard reaction kinetics in milk powder: Effect of water activity at mild temperatures. *Int. Dairy J.*, 20, 40-45.
- Pietsch, W. 2004. Agglomeration in Industry, Weinheim, Germany, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH
- Porowska, A., Dosta, M., Heinrich, S., Fries, L., Gianfrancesco, A. & Palzer, S. 2015. Influence of feed composition and drying parameters on the surface composition of a spray-dried multicomponent particle. *Drying Technology*, 33, 1911-1919.
- Punidadas, P. & Rizvi, S. S. H. 1998. Separation of milk proteins next term into fractions rich in casein or previous term whey proteins next term by cross flow filtration. *Food Res. Int.*, 31, 265-272.
- Rauh, V. M., Johansen, L. B., Bakman, M., Ipsen, R., Paulsson, M., Larsen, L. B. & Hammershøj, M. 2015. Protein lactosylation in UHT milk during storage measured by Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry and quantification of furosine. *Int. J.* of Dairy Tech., 68, 486-494.
- Richard, B., Toubai, M., Le Page, J. F., Nasar, G., Radziszewski, E., Nongaillard, B., Debreyne, P., Schuck, P., Jeantet, R. & Delaplace, G. 2012. Ultrasound tests in a stirred vessel to evaluate the reconstitution ability of dairy powders. *Innovative Food Sci. Emerging Technol.*, 16, 233-242.
- Roos, Y. H. 1995. Phase Transitions in Foods, San Diego, Academic Press.
- Sadek, C., Li, H., Schuck, P., Fallourd, Y., Pradeau, N., Le Floch-Fouéré, C. & Jeantet, R. 2014. To what extent do whey and casein micelle proteins influence the morphology and properties of the resulting powder? *Drying Technology*, 32, 1540-1551.
- Sawyer, L. 2003. β-Lactoglobulin. *In:* Fox, P. F. & McSweeney, P. L. H. (eds.) *Advanced Dairy Systems* 3ed. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- Schubert, H., Ax, K. & Behrend, O. 2003. Product engineering of dispersed systems. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.*, 14, 9-16.
- Schuck, P., Jeantet, R. B., B., Chen, X. D., Perrone, I. T., de Carvalho A., F., Fenelon, M. & Kelly, P. 2016. Recent advances in spray drying relevant to the dairy industry: A comprehensive critical review. *Drying Technol.*, 34, 1773-1790.
- Sharma, A., Jana, A. H. & Chavan, R. S. 2012. Functionality of milk powders and milkbased powders for end use applications – A review. *Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf.*, 11, 518-528.
- Silva, J. V. C. & O'Mahony, J. A. 2017. Flowability and wetting behaviour of milk proteiningredients as influenced by powder composition, particle size and microstructure. *Int, J. Dairy Technol.*, 70, 277-286.
- Stapelfeldt, H., Nielsen, B. R. & Skibsted, L. H. 1997. Effect of heat treatment, water activity and storage temperature on the oxidative stability of whole milk powder. *Int. Dairy J.*, 7, 331-339.

- TheNounProject 2020. Produced by: Icons producer, Nhor, Vectors point, Anniken & Andreas, Maxim Kulikov, Schweitzer Preis GbR, Gan Khoon Lay, Prosymbols.
- Thomas, M. E. C., Scher, J., Desobry- Banon, S. & Desobry, S. 2004. Milk powders ageing: Effect on physical and functional properties *Critical Rev. Food Sci.Nutrition*, 44, 297-322.
- Tripp, B. C., Magda, J. J. & Andrade, J. D. 1995. Adsorption of globular proteins at the air/water interface as measured via dynamic surface tension: Concentration dependence, mass-transfer considerations, and adsorption kinetics. *Journal of Colloid* and Interface Science, 173, 16-27.
- Walstra, P., Wouters, J. T. M. & Geurts, T. J. 2006. *Dairy Science and Technology*, Boca Raton, CRC Press.
- Van Renterghem, R. & De Block, J. 1996. Furosine in consumption milk and milk powders. *Int. Dairy J.*, 6, 371-382.
- Vehring, R. 2008. Pharmaceutical Particle Engineering via Spray Drying. *Pharm. Res.*, 25, 999-1022.
- Vehring, R., Foss, W. R. & Lechuga-Ballesteros, D. 2007. Particle formation in spray drying. *J. Aerosol Sci.*, 38, 728-746.
- Wijayanti, H. B., Bansal, N. & Deeth, H. C. 2014. Stability of whey proteins during thermal processing: A review. Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Safety, 13, 1235-1251.
- Vos, B., Crowley, S. V., O'Sullivan, J., Evans-Hurson, R., McSweeney, S., Krüse, J., Rizwan Ahmed, M., Fitzpatrick, D. & O'Mahony, J. A. 2016. New insights into the mechanism of rehydration of milk protein concentrate powders determined by Broadband Acoustic Resonance Dissolution Spectroscopy (BARDS). *Food Hydrocolloids*, 61, 933-945.
- Yang, J., Thielen, I., Berton-Carabin, E. & Sagis, L. M. C. 2020. Nonlinear interfacial rheology and atomic force microscopy of air-water interfaces stabilized by whey protein beads and their constituents. *Food Hydrocolloids*.